



# Temi di Discussione

(Working Papers)

Households' savings in China

by Riccardo Cristadoro and Daniela Marconi







# Temi di discussione

(Working papers)

Households' savings in China

by Riccardo Cristadoro and Daniela Marconi

Number 838 - November 2011

The purpose of the Temi di discussione series is to promote the circulation of working papers prepared within the Bank of Italy or presented in Bank seminars by outside economists with the aim of stimulating comments and suggestions.

The views expressed in the articles are those of the authors and do not involve the responsibility of the Bank.

Editorial Board: Silvia Magri, Massimo Sbracia, Luisa Carpinelli, Emanuela Ciapanna, Alessandro Notarpietro, Pietro Rizza, Concetta Rondinelli, Tiziano Ropele, Andrea Silvestrini, Giordano Zevi.

Editorial Assistants: Roberto Marano, Nicoletta Olivanti.

#### HOUSEHOLDS' SAVINGS IN CHINA

by Riccardo Cristadoro\* and Daniela Marconi\*

#### Abstract

This paper studies the determinants of Chinese households' saving. Domestic saving in China is the highest in the world in terms of GDP and it is mirrored in a large and persistent current account surplus. First, we show that notwithstanding the rising contribution of government and firms to national savings, they stand out because of households' behaviour. Our econometric analysis proceeds from the work of Modigliani and Cao (2004) that explained rising personal saving in China within the life-cycle hypothesis. We prove that their explanation is insufficient. Then, using panel data and exploiting differences among provinces and between urban and rural households, we show that there is a significant dissimilarity in savings decisions in urban and rural areas and that motives other than those envisaged in the life-cycle model might play a major role, above all precautionary savings and liquidity constraints. Our results suggest that to reduce the propensity to save of Chinese households it is necessary to improve the provision of social services and to facilitate access to credit.

#### JEL Classification: D12, E21,O18.

Keywords: China, saving rate, precautionary savings.

#### Contents

1. Introduction	5
2. Is China's savings rate too high?	8
3. China's savings by sector	
4. A reappraisal of the life cycle explanation of Chinese households savings	14
5. One size does not fit all China: the provincial-level analysis	
5.1 Household savings and disparities across China	
5.2 Econometric analysis of households savings with provincial-level data	
6. Conclusions and policy implications	
References	
Appendix A: Data	
Appendix B: Tables and figures	

<sup>\*</sup> Bank of Italy, Economics, Research and International Relations.

#### 1. Introduction

Domestic savings in China reached 50 per cent of national income in 2008, the highest level in the world as a share of GDP. Savings have been rising over the last decade, systematically exceeding investment expenditures, notwithstanding the quite sharp surge of the latter as a share of GDP, from 35 per cent in 2000 to 45 per cent in 2009. This widening discrepancy translated into large current account surpluses in China, mirrored by large deficits in advanced countries.<sup>1</sup> Private consumption, on the other hand, fell as a share of GDP, from 46.2 to 34.5 per cent over the same period, as a result of a rising propensity to save and a persistent erosion of households' disposable income.

The rising share of China in world GDP (to 11.4 per cent from 7.2 in 2000<sup>2</sup>) and weaker growth prospects for advanced countries are already creating tensions in currency markets and international *fora*. A perpetuation of the old growth pattern whereby the excess production of China is absorbed by the US and other advanced economies running widening current account deficits is not sustainable. Understanding the saving determinants in China has thus become a central issue in the debate on global imbalances (Bernanke, 2005, Obstfeld and Rogoff, 2009).

Blanchard and Giavazzi (2006) proposed a "three handed approach" to rebalance growth in China which would entail "a decrease in saving, with a focus on private saving, an increase in the supply of services, in particular health services, and an appreciation of the renminbi". The actual quantitative effect of this and similar policy recommendations,<sup>3</sup> aimed at stimulating Chinese consumption, has been disputed. Zhang and co-authors<sup>4</sup> argued that the impact of a reduction of Chinese current account surplus engineered through a change in China's saving behaviour would have almost negligible effects on rebalancing world demand and the current accounts in deficits countries. The Chinese Government has anyhow recently recognised in its 12<sup>th</sup> five-year plan (2011-16), that promoting a more balanced growth within China and increasing the welfare of the population by sustaining domestic consumption are qualifying aspects of its medium-term policy.

No matter whether one believes that a rebalancing of demand in China will guide the world toward a more sustainable growth path or rather dismiss this argument and judges such a policy useful for China's own sake, the issue of Chinese saving is central to the national and international economic policy debate.

So why are savings in China so high and where does the problem lie: with households, firms or Government?

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Over the last decade China's current account surplus increased six folds as a percentage of GDP peaking at 11 per cent in 2007, about 372 billion dollars. In 2008 that surplus amounted roughly at 50 per cent of the aggregated surpluses of the rest of Asia (including Japan) and the major oil exporting countries. Foreign reserves rose rapidly, reaching 2.4 trillion dollars at the end of last year (more than half of China's GDP).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> At the PPP.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> See also Blanchard (2009), Krugman (2010) and IMF (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Zhang et al. (2010).

All three institutional sectors (government, households and corporate) are big savers in China. But while the corporate sector behaviour is not unusual, especially when compared with other Asian economies, and net savings are negative, the households sector propensity to save is the highest in the world and kept rising over the last few years. As we will argue, this is partly due to the Government budget policies, that kept government consumption low as a share of GDP as the soaring revenues were invested in infrastructures or transferred to firms capital accounts. So it is on personal saving that we will focus our analysis.<sup>5</sup>

Chinese households savings increased dramatically from the end of the seventies, after the introduction of economic reforms. Before 1979 China was a planned economy characterized by full employment and consumer goods shortages; government provided housing, education, pensions and medical services; households savings were essentially due to unsatisfied consumption rather than the result of wealth accumulation decisions. The social protection network (known as the *iron rice bowl*) has been progressively dismantled as economic reforms proceeded distributing unevenly the profits of the resulting fast growth. Strict family planning policies were enforced ("*one child policy*"), provoking dramatic changes in the demographic structure of the population and in the intergenerational relationships as children in the traditional Chinese society were the future source of income for the elders. The household registration system (*hukou*), by restricting migration from the countryside to urban areas, has prevented a more balanced development, maintaining a dualeconomy.<sup>6</sup> The system of state owned enterprises (SOEs) has been gradually put aside, as private businesses started flourishing in economic "*special zones*" and spreading from there.

All these factors have contributed to the sharp rise of Chinese personal savings from around 5 per cent of disposable income before 1978 to almost 40 per cent in 2009.

The life cycle theory, first formalized by Modigliani and Brumberg,<sup>7</sup> still constitutes the workhorse of the theoretical literature on savings.<sup>8</sup> It states that people maximize their lifetime utility and choose – under standard hypothesis – a smooth consumption pattern, which entails that, facing a reduction of their income after retirement, they will build up assets during their working life to finance consumption after retirement. Demography and growth are the main determinant of aggregate saving in the standard version of the model.<sup>9</sup> Modigliani and Cao tested the life cycle explanation with Chinese aggregate data spanning almost 50 years (1953-2000), concluding that the theory fits the data well.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Similar conclusion on the centrality of personal savings are reached – among others – by Chamon & Prasad (2010), Horioka and Wan (2007) and Wei & Zhang (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> On the functioning of the *hukou* system see Wang (1997).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Modigliani and Brumberg (1954).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Browning and Lusardi (1996) reviewing the literature lists nine possible motives that can induce people to save (eight of which already envisaged by Keynes in the General Theory) and focus on a "standard model" that captures the basic insights of the LCH.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> There is some ambiguity in the literature concerning what people really mean by life cycle model, see Browning and Lusardi (1996). Here we mean the simple life cycle model with certainty equivalence or the "stripped down version" of the model (see Deaton 1992).

Their evidence has been indirectly called into question by results based on provincial level data by Horioka and Wan (2007) and household level data by Chamon and Prasad (2010) and by Brugiavini et al (2010). Differences between rural and urban households behaviour and the Ushaped age profile of savings are hard to reconcile with the standard version of the life cycle model and are at odds with Modigliani and Cao conclusions.

Difficulties in rationalizing empirical facts concerning saving behaviour with economic theory are well known and by no means unique to China. Recognizing this problem most empirical analysis usually starts with an a-theoretical specification,<sup>10</sup> while the theoretical literature has proposed several explanations to help bridge this gap. Prominent among them are the presence of *liquidity constraints* that prevent agents from keeping the marginal utility of consumption constant over their lifetime posing a binding constraint on their possibilities to borrow against future income and precautionary saving arising from uncertain future income prospects in the presence of a convex marginal utility.

The deep changes occurred in China over the last thirty years have surely radically increased the amount of uncertainty families face concerning their incomes and pensions, so together with liquidity constraints it is highly likely that people are induced to save also for precautionary reasons. In a recent speech, the Governor of the People's Bank of China addressed the issue of high Chinese savings considering first a cultural argument, "East Asian countries are influenced by Confucianism, which values thrift, self-discipline, zhong yong or Middle Ground (low-key)" but ultimately concluding that "under the planned economy, housing, healthcare, and pension were provided by the enterprises and the government... After the reform in the 1990s, the "iron bowl" (lifelong secure job and welfare) system was smashed ... However, effective social security system had not been in place either. These significantly increased the incentive for precautionary savings."11

We take stock of this debate and revisit the results of Modigliani and Cao. We conclude that the life cycle explanation is less robust than what previously believed. Recent data show that the rise in personal saving rates occurred mainly among urban households leaving rural savings quite unchanged (as a share of disposable income). We therefore split aggregate time series (updated to 2008) distinguishing between rural and urban households and find clear evidence of different saving patterns. This evidence calls into question the "one size fits all" assumption implicit in the aggregate analysis, hence we focus on provincial level data, to exploit the variation across provinces as well as among rural and urban realities, taking into account in this way the uneven pace of development of Mainland China. Our results underscore the importance of modelling the saving behaviour of urban and rural households differently and shed some doubts on the attempts at explaining Chinese personal savings only through country-wide factors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> "most of the empirical work on saving itself is descriptive and relatively atheoretical" (Browning & Lusardi, 1996). See for example Loayza et al. (2000). <sup>11</sup> Xiaochuan (2009).

The paper is organized as follows. In *section 2* we address the general question of whether China is saving too much, analyzing the different dimensions along which this might be a meaningful question. In *section 3* we give a closer look at aggregate data to prove that the main cause of high savings lies in the household sector. In *section 4* we assess the life cycle explanation of Chinese high personal savings first advanced by Modigliani and Cao to conclude it is not satisfactory from various points of view. In *section 5* we propose alternative explanations and exploit the variability across Chinese provinces to gauge them. *Section 6* concludes. *Appendix A* provides details on data sources, data constructions and discrepancies between national accounts and survey statistics.

#### 2. Is China's savings rate too high?

China's savings are very high in more than one respect: comparing them with those of other countries in general, with those of East Asian economies in particular and with countries in a similar development stage. Savings are high also with respect to the past, as they kept increasing till the most recent years and, finally, their level is "high" also considering the sustainability of excess saving (and hence current account surplus) over the medium term.

International comparisons of saving rates are notoriously insidious: large gaps in saving behaviour across countries might be substantially reduced once relevant differences in accounting procedures and concepts are considered (see Hayashi, 1989, for a convincing case concerning US and Japan) and various definitions of "saving" can lead to different conclusions ('net' or 'gross' saving rates, domestic, private or household savings, see OECD, 2004). The poor quality of the data also hinders the comparison, especially in the early phases of development when a coherent system of accounts is often not available. With this caveat in mind, in what follows we will rely mainly on international sources and use "gross" saving rates (i.e. inclusive of depreciation) in cross-country comparisons.

As shown in the first column of Table 1, gross domestic savings in China are much higher than those recorded in the rest of the world. This was already true at the beginning of the nineties, it became more striking by the end of this decade.

Even focusing only on the other East Asian countries (top part of Table 1) where savings are traditionally high, partly for cultural reasons,<sup>12</sup> China stands out with national savings that are 20 points (of GDP) higher than Korea, Indonesia and Vietnam, 15 points higher than India and 25 points more than Japan. The other striking feature that emerges from the data, is the very low level of consumption in terms of GDP, compared with all other countries (column 3).

China is an outlier also considering private saving (*i.e.* domestic savings *minus* government savings). Over the period 2002-2008 on average the Chinese private sector saved 7 percentage

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See among other Morishima (1982) for Japan and the Governor of PBofC, Zhou Xiaochuan (2009) for China.

points of GDP more than the thriftiest country in the sample, India. It was also well above the others in terms of capital accumulation, with a share of investment in GDP greater than 42 per cent, that compares with rates in the mid thirties or mid twenties for most other Asian economies.

Country	Gross domestic savings	Gross public savings	Household final consumption	Gross capital formation	Current account balance
			2002-2008 average		
China	50.2	8.2	38.1	42.7	7.6
India	37.0	2.1	57.6	34.4	-0.7
Indonesia	27.8	4.8	64.0	25.4	1.7
Korea, Rep.	31.1	10.2	54.5	29.9	1.2
Thailand	29.2	6.2	56.0	27.5	1.8
Vietnam	32.4	7.3	65.2	38.2	-5.7
Japan	27.0	3.9	57.2	23.4	3.6
Brazil	17.7	-1.6	60.5	17.5	0.1
Russian Federation	31.0	10.0	49.1	22.9	7.9
France	20.4	5.3	56.7	20.6	-0.4
Germany	22.7	0.3	58.2	17.7	5.2
Italy	19.2	0.5	58.6	21.1	-2.0
United Kingdom	15.0	3.9	64.6	17.3	-2.3
United States	14.5	10.2	69.9	19.4	-5.2

 

 Table 1. International comparison of domestic saving, domestic absorption and current account balance

(per cent share of GDP)

Source: IMF, WEO April 2010.

One might object that this comparison is flawed since we are dealing with countries at different stages of development (see Appendix, Table A1). In Table 2 we consider various Asian economies in their *take-off* phase, defined as a period of prolonged and sustained growth (see also Bank of Italy, 2003). We focused on a set of Asian economies that started their rapid expansion at relatively low (and similar) level of per capita GDP, ending them with levels twice as high or more. This comparison confirms the exceptional amount of income saved by the Chinese.<sup>13</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Data availability imposed a limitation on the scope of the comparison. The "take-off phases" were selected via inspection of the data on growth, however the results are robust with respect to small variations in the time periods selected.

		Dor conito CDD				
		Per capita GDP				
		at beginning of	Per capita GDP			
	Period of	period	end of period (\$	Average GDP	National Savings	Investment
Country	fast growth	(\$ PPP)	PPP)	growth (%)	(% of GDP)	(% of GDP)
China	1999-2008	2162	6188	10.4	47.6	38.8
India	1999-2009	1447	2868	7.0	30.4	28.1
Indonesia	1988-1996	1269	2450	7.3	32.0	24.1
Malaysia	1988-1996	4037	8239	9.4	32.7	37.9
Thailand	1988-1996	2207	5018	9.0	33.8	39.5

 

 Table 2. Comparison of growth, savings and investment performance over the take-off period in selected Asian countries

Source: IMF, WEO April 2010.

Is the current situation sustainable in the long run? There are at least two arguments that can be put forward to argue that the answer should be "no". First, since according to most predictions in deficit countries demand is likely to remain much weaker than in the pre-crisis era "for surplus economies... the challenge is to rebalance growth from external sources to domestic sources and run smaller surpluses in the future" (IMF, 2010). Second, even if the world were to return to the previous situation the question is: could in that case the rising level of Chinese savings and exports be absorbed? Growing at an average annual rate of 10 per cent by 2020 China would outweigh Japan in terms of GDP not only at the PPP but also in dollar term. Chinese GDP would account for roughly 1/6 of world total output and its savings therefore (if stable at more than 50 per cent of GDP) would rise from little more than 4 per cent to 8 per cent of world GDP. A 10 per cent surplus in net exports would translate in a twice as big rest of the world deficit compared with 2009. It seems highly unlikely that such a growing burden in deficit countries can be financed without rising stability risks.

#### 3. China's savings by sector

The scenario depicted at the end of last section, is not only unfeasible from a global point of view, it is also undesirable for China itself. The growth strategy pursued so far with undisputable success by the Chinese authorities entailed the rapid accumulation of physical capital (machinery and infrastructures) through an intensive plan of public and private investments financed by fast rising domestic savings. As productivity rose, output, firms' profits and government revenues expanded. On the other hand, the labour share contracted in terms of GDP since wages grew at a slower pace, bringing households' disposable income down to 58 per cent of GDP in 2008, from 69 per cent at the beginning of the previous decade.

Starting from the early nineties capital accumulation has taken place at the expense of private consumption: as a share of GDP, gross fixed capital formation rose from 30 per cent to 45 per cent, while private consumption shrank from 50 per cent to 35 per cent (fig. 1). Private consumption is by far too low whether we compare it to the rest of developing Asia, or to the industrialized countries where on average it is well above 60 per cent of total output.





Flow of funds data allow to isolate the contribution to China's overall savings of the main economic (institutional) sectors: government, corporate and household.<sup>14</sup> Domestic saving S is the sum of the savings of these three sectors (apart from a negligible contribution from financial institutions), the overall savings to income ratio (average saving rate) can thus be expressed as:

$$s = \frac{S}{Y} = \sum_{j} \frac{S_{j}}{Y} = \sum_{j} \left[ \left( \frac{S_{j}}{Y_{j}} \right) \cdot \left( \frac{Y_{j}}{Y} \right) \right] = \sum_{j} \left( s_{j} \cdot y_{j} \right)$$
(1)

where  $S_j$  and  $Y_j$  are gross savings and disposable income in sector *j* and  $s_j$  and  $y_j$  are average saving rate and the income share of the sector, while *j* here stands for government (*g*), corporate (*c*), or household (*h*).

Since 2000 government and corporate savings rose sharply and now account for about 20 and 8 percentage points (in GDP terms) up from 10 and 3, respectively, in the early nineties. Household saving, instead, as a share of GDP remained quite stable around 20 percent.

Nonetheless it would be wrong to conclude that the major driving forces behind the rise of Chinese national savings over the past 20 years can be traced back to non-financial firms and to the government: instead the correct way to assess the behaviour of the agents is to look at their savings *relative to* their disposable income as clarified by the decomposition in eqn. 1. Doing so leads to a different conclusion.

Over the last decade, higher fiscal revenues accrued to the Government sector, boosted by the rapid expansion of GDP, by the increased efficiency in tax collection (a tax reform was approved in 1994) and by the levies on land sales whose value soared. In the while public consumption remained quite low as a share, of GDP (fig. 2), leading to a considerable increase in

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Flow of funds data are available only for the 1992-2008 period.

public sector saving, which has been invested in fixed capital, both directly and indirectly (through capital transfer to the corporate sector).





Following the 1997-98 Asian financial crisis, saving in the corporate sector, grew globally, but more in Asia than in the rest of the world. China was no exception to this global trend and corporate savings peaked at 20 per cent of GDP in 2004, fluctuating around that level ever since (Fig 3).<sup>15</sup>





Source: authors' elaborations on OECD and national accounts data.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> For the corporate sector, by definition saving coincides with disposable income, therefore we can only compare it with total GDP. At global level, while the rise of corporate saving was in general offset by an equal decline in household saving this was not true in emerging Asia and in China in particular (IMF, 2009). Also, the available micro evidence shows that China corporate sector is not particularly thrifty. Chinese firms (either SOE or private) do not distribute systematically less dividends than other firms in Asia, the common held belief that poor corporate governance in the SOEs and windfalls in resource sectors are causing high saving rates in China is not borne by a firm-level dataset comprising China and other Asian countries (see Bayoumi et al., 2010).

The high rates of corporate saving in Asia, and in China in particular, reflect tax distortions and poor financial development, both inducing firms to finance investments mainly through selfretained earnings (table 3). And indeed, if one looks at Chinese data, notwithstanding the high and rising level of savings, the saving-investment balance of the corporate sector remains largely negative (-11 per cent of GDP in 2008; fig. 4).

		Domestic	Foreign	Self-rising
	State Budget	Loans	Investment	Funds
		in % of tota	l investment	
1981	28.1	12.7	3.8	55.4
1990	8.7	19.6	6.3	65.4
2000	6.4	20.3	5.1	68.2
2005	4.4	18.5	4.4	72.7
2008	5.0	14.5	2.9	78.3





We can conclude that government saving arose from insufficient spending while corporate sector savings soared following a trend common to other countries and remaining nonetheless below investment; what instead stands out as peculiar and challenging to explain (and to change) is the saving behaviour of Chinese households.



Fig. 5 China: household's saving and disposable



Fig. 6 Household gross saving in selected countries (as per cent of GDP)



Source: authors' elaborations on OECD and national accounts data.

Fig. 5 Saving-Investment balance to GDP ratio by sector 20 15 10 5 -10 -15 -20 92 95 96 97 98 99 00 01 02 03 04 05 06 07 08 Hous abold Corporate (Non finar

Source: authors' elaborations on CEIC data.

Personal saving rates in China rose steadily during the last decade (from 28 per cent to 38 per cent of disposable income; fig. 5), so that, even though their disposable income share fell, personal savings remained high as a percentage of GDP, even recording a slight increase over the 2002-2008 period (up to 23 per cent).

These rates are high not only vis à vis other economies today (Fig. 6), but also in historical comparison. Other countries experienced high saving rates during phases of rapid growth. In Italy, for instance, private and households savings were very high during the 60's and 70's, but nowhere near the peaks reached nowadays in China (Ando et al., 1994). Also limiting the comparison to other Asian economies to control for a potential "cultural bias" (Zhou, 2009), Chinese households' savings are exceptionally high. In Japan between the 60's and the 70's private savings peaked at almost 25 per cent of net product, those of households passed 20 per cent of disposable income (Hayashi, 1986).

Furthermore, opinion polls reveal persistent concern of Chinese households for the levels of their savings. According to a recent Gallup survey (see Gallup, 2007) more than two-thirds of the people interviewed claimed that they were dissatisfied with the amount of savings they had and wanted more.

The evidence presented so far shows, on the one hand, that the saving behaviors of the three institutional sectors are strictly related, as they are the outcome of the same development strategy, and, on the other hand, that Chinese households are storing an exceptionally high share of their disposable income and wish to continue to do so. It is therefore upon this latter fact that we would like to shed light with our analysis.

#### 4. A reappraisal of the life cycle explanation of Chinese households savings

The life cycle hypothesis (LCH), according to which the main motivation for personal saving is financing consumption after retirement, is still the prominent theory or at least the starting point for most empirical research on the topic (see Deaton 1992, Deaton & Paxson 2000 and Browning & Lusardi 1996 for a review of the literature). Basing their analysis on aggregate data spanning from 1953 to 2000, Modigliani and Cao (2004; henceforth M&C), reached the conclusion that the rising amount of personal savings in China can be explained within the framework of the life cycle model.

The main explanatory factors driving up Chinese households saving from the very low levels of the 50's, when it trailed around 5 per cent of disposable income, to the heights of late 90's,

when it reached 30 per cent, have been the rapid growth of the economy and the dramatic changes in the demographic structure, induced by the one-child policy.<sup>16</sup> M&C measure these determinants by a long-term average of real per capita disposable income growth and by the ratio of employees to minors, the latter being defined as people below 14 years of age.<sup>17</sup>

The first factor can be rationalized within the life cycle framework by the fact that, in a fast growth environment, young generations in their saving phase are much richer than older generations in their dissaving phase pushing up overall personal savings and saving rates.<sup>18</sup>

The one-child policy affected the saving behaviour of Chinese households in two ways: reducing consumption needs (and so the income share of consumption, C/Y) for families with children and removing what was in the Chinese tradition a substitute for savings for retirement. In China, as well as in many other Asian countries, children have the obligation to take care of the elderly, not only by social norms but also by law. In rural areas, where no other forms of government support were in place until very recently, elderly traditionally relied on their children. The rapid urbanization of younger generations and the evolution of social norms have progressively weakened this extended-family arrangement (OECD 2010).

The core equation in M&C paper is:

$$sr_{t} = a_{0} + a_{1}g_{t} + a_{2}(E/M)_{t} + a_{3}(\Delta y_{t} - g_{t}) + a_{4}\Delta p_{t}$$
(1)

where (sr) is the saving rate, (g) is disposable income long term growth, E/M the ratio of employees to minors,  $\Delta y - g$  is annual deviation from long term growth and  $\Delta p$  is CPI inflation. Their main results are reported in Table 4: long term income growth and the E/M ratio are strongly significant and positively affect households' savings in all subperiods originally considered.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> In the last thirty years China experienced a dramatic demographic change: in 1978 the share of young population (aged 0-14) in total population was 65 per cent, by 2008 such a share was below 30 per cent.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> In their paper Modigliani and Cao consider different alternatives for the long-term growth, here we chose a fourteen years average growth rate from 1966 onwards, approximating it with the longest possible average for the period 1957-1965. This choice allows us to reproduce almost exactly the regression results reported in table 3 of the M&C paper. The variable they select to take into account the changes in the population structure is a proxy of the young dependency ratio, given by the number of employees divided by the number of persons below 14 years of age.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Several theories consider the role of income growth. At aggregate level the relationship between saving rates and income growth is positive; in standard growth models the direction of causation goes from saving rates to growth rates. The evidence, however, suggests that the causation could also run in the other direction, with the saving rate responding to income growth, both at aggregate and microeconomic level (Carroll et al., 2000). The LCH reconciles the evidence with the theory arguing that in fast growing economies, like China, young generations in their saving phase being much richer than older generations in their dissaving phase push progressively up the average saving rate of the economy. Additional refinements to the theory include the habit formation hypothesis (HFH) according to which individuals care about both the level and the rate of growth of consumption, smoothing the two. As a consequence, following a positive (negative) income shock consumption adjusts slowly and the saving-to-income ratio increases (decreases).

	Constant ( <b>a0</b> )	Long term income growth ( <b>a1</b> )	E/M ( a2 )	Deviation from long term income growth ( <b>a3</b> )	inflation ( <b>a4</b> )	
		I. 195	3-2000 (1	all years)		
$R^2 = 0.98$	0.1	2.07	0.1	0.1	0.26	
tvalue	-11	8.85	9.04	2.08	3.78	
	II. 1953-1985					
$R^2 = 0.92$	-0.13	1.52	0.14	0.14	0.74	
tvalue	-3.23	3.5	3.04	1.95	1.79	
		I	II. 1978-	2000		
$R^{2} = 0.96$	-0.1	2.52	0.09	0.13	0.18	
tvalue	-6.22	8.8	7.9	2.23	2.81	

#### Table 4: Modigliani and Cao regressions on the original (1953-2000) period

Source: Modigliani and Cao 2004

Since then, the personal saving rate rose even higher, reaching 40 per cent of disposable income in 2008. Extending the sample to cover these most recent figures and taking into account the data revisions intervened in the meantime<sup>19</sup> does not seem to change the good fit of M&C regressors, at least visually (see fig 7).



Fig. 7: Chinese households saving rate & disposable income; overall dependency ratio

Source: Modigliani and Cao 2004, CBS and authors computations

Estimation of the same relation postulated by M&C, extending the sample to cover the years 2001-08 confirms their results for long term growth (g), that is always highly significant and positively related to the saving rate (*sr*), and for the ratio of employees on minors (E/M; see table 5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> See appendix for details.

	on the	CATCHACA	(1)00 =	ooo) periou				
	Constant ( <b>a0</b> )	Long term income growth ( <b>a1</b> )	E/M ( <b>a2</b> )	Deviation from long term income growth ( <b>a3</b> )	inflation ( <b>a4</b> )			
		I. 1953-2008 (all years)						
$R^2 = 0.98$	-0.09	2.49	0.08	0.05	0.12			
DW = 0.74	-11.98	9.46	8.94	0.78	2.05			
		II. 1953-1985						
$R^2 = 0.92$	-0.14	1.49	0.15	0.14	0.18			
DW = 0.93	-2.75	2.57	2.53	1.85	1.75			
		j	III. 1978-	2008				
$R^2 = 0.96$	-0.07	2.75	0.07	0	0.05			
DW=0.76	-4.67	6.5	6.37	0.02	0.72			

#### Table 5: *Modigliani and Cao* regressions on the "extended" (1953-2008) period

Source: Modigliani and Cao 2004, CBS and authors computations

On the other hand, the extended and revised sample weakens the relation between saving rate and deviations from long-run income  $(\Delta y_t - g_t)$  and also the link with inflation  $(\Delta p_t)$  appears flimsy, being significant only in the regression over the entire sample.<sup>20</sup>

However, the specification suffers from a number of econometric problems as can be easily spotted noting that DW statistics lay all around 1, signaling positive autocorrelation in the residuals. Introducing in (1) the lagged dependent variable among the regressors solves the problem<sup>21</sup>, but on the most recent sample the dependency ratio is barely significant, long-term growth has a somewhat reduced effect, while deviations from long-term growth have a much stronger (positive) effect on the saving rate (see eq. 2).

$$sr_{t} = -\underbrace{0.03}_{(-2.52)} + \underbrace{0.66}_{(7.82)} sr_{t-1} + \underbrace{1.21}_{(3.99)} g_{t} + \underbrace{0.02}_{(1.94)} (E/M)_{t} + \underbrace{0.22}_{(4.24)} (\Delta y_{t} - g_{t}) + \underbrace{0.02}_{(0.47)} \Delta p_{t}$$

$$R^{2} = 0.99, \ DW = 2.51, \ sample : 1978 - 2008$$
(2)

Taken together this evidence seems to weaken the case put forward by Modigliani and Cao. But this is not the main objection that can be moved to the life cycle explanation of Chinese households savings. There are other, deeper reasons to doubt that the life cycle framework really captures the whole story of rising personal savings in China. Studies based on province-level and

 $<sup>^{20}</sup>$  The main factor behind the change in the results is therefore given by the new data rather than by the revision, as can be seen by comparing the equations for the period 1953-1985, affected only by the latter and almost identical in terms of the significance of the regressors.

regressors. <sup>21</sup> Godfrey's test for serial correlation up to the fourth order shows no evidence of autocorrelation in the residuals of the estimated equation (Chi-Square(4) p-value = 0.2014).

household-level data (see Horioka and Wan 2007, Chamon and Prasad 2010) have shown that demographic changes and long-run growth are far from being the one and only cause of rising saving in China. Inertia and current income growth play a major role in these data, while demographic variables are rarely relevant. The age-profile of urban households saving rate became U-shaped starting in the mid-90's, and the saving rate itself peaks in old age. Clearly it is hard to reconcile these facts with life-cycle hypothesis.

While the determinants singled out by M&C can partly explain the surge of Chinese personal savings from the very low levels preceding the economic reforms to the heights of the nineties, they fall short of fully accounting for the persistent growth of the saving rate since then and for differences that emerge across provinces as well as between rural and urban households. M&C evidence rests on China being treated as an homogeneous reality but this is far from being true, one explanation will most likely not "fit the whole China". The development strategy followed since 1978 by Chinese authorities, based on the gradual opening to "free market" in designated areas of the country (*special economic zones*), characterized by big urban agglomerates and proximity to major ports, led to a fast but unevenly distributed growth of income, both among provinces and between rural and urban population. Today there still exist large gaps in development levels among Eastern, Central and Western provinces (see Table B2 in the Appendix B). It is not possible to tell a coherent story about Chinese savings by looking only at country-wide statistics. For this reason, we believe that an analysis based on more disaggregated data is crucial to uncover more recent saving dynamics.

#### 5. One size does not fit all China: the provincial-level analysis

#### 5.1 Household savings and disparities across China

In the last twenty years household savings in China increased faster than disposable income in both urban and rural areas. According to NSBC's household survey data (which underestimate the flow of funds figures presented before, see Appendix A), from 1991 to 2010 in urban areas household savings grew by 13 per cent per annum in real terms, compared to an average growth of disposable income of 10 per cent, pushing the saving to income ratio up from 15.3 to 29.5 per cent; in rural areas savings and disposable income grew respectively by 8.5 and 6.4 per cent and the saving rate climbed to 26 per cent, from 14.8 per cent (Table 6).<sup>22</sup>

 $<sup>^{22}</sup>$  According to flow of funds data the household savings reached 38 per cent of disposable income in 2007. The discrepancies between flow of funds and survey data are well known and highlighted often in the literature as puzzling. An inspection of the data reveals that survey data are more volatile and tend to underestimate both income and savings, the underestimation of the latter is more pronounced. All in all, however, the dynamics of the saving rate results quite comparable (see Appendix A).

These numbers are quite impressive, not least because per capita annual income is on average still very low, around 4,800 US\$ in urban areas, and just 1,500 US\$ in rural ones (expressed in 2010 purchasing power parities).

The fast growth of income has been accompanied by large migrations from rural to urban areas. Since the beginning of the 90's the share of urban population has almost doubled, reaching 50 per cent of the total in 2010 (Table 6).

Year	Urbanization rate	Urban to rural disposable income ratio	Urban household saving rate	Rural household saving rate	Average household saving rate
1990	26.4	2.2	15.3	14.8	15.0
1995	29.0	2.7	17.4	16.9	17.2
2000	36.2	2.8	20.4	25.9	22.5
2005	43.0	3.2	24.3	21.5	23.5
2010	49.7	3.2	29.5	26.0	28.7

<b>T II ( CI !</b>	TT 1 • /• 1	• •	• •	1 1011
Table 6 China	I rhanization and	l saving rates	in urban and	l rural ( 'hina
rabic o China.	UI DamZation and	i saving races	in ui ban any	a i ui ai Ciiina

Source: China Statistical Yearbook, various years, and authors' elaborations.

The rapid urbanization has been coupled with rising income disparities: in 2010 per capita disposable income in urban areas was 3.2 times higher than in rural areas; the income share of urban households now is more than 3/4 of total household income and is likely to increase further as the urbanization process continues.<sup>23</sup>

Although aggregate saving rates rose in both urban and rural areas, they followed different paths over time and across provinces. In urban areas the increase was steady and quite even across provinces; in rural areas, instead, it was more volatile.

Taking averages for the years 2001-2008, urban household saving rates range from 16.6 per cent in Chongqing to 30.1 in Jiangsu, while those for rural households go from 7.9 in Shaanxi to 48.8 per cent in Tianjin (see Appendix B, Table B2).

A quick look at the map also reveals that households residing in the richest provinces along the coast tend to save more out of disposable income, while those residing in the poorest provinces located in central China in general can afford to save less, particularly in rural Shaanxi, Hunan, Yunnan and Guizhou (fig. 9).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> A more thorough comparison of urban and rural households is given in tables A4 and A5 in the Appendix.



#### Fig. 9 Map of urban and rural household saving rates by province

Source: CEIC and authors' calculations.

During the last decade urban household saving rates rose sharply, while those of rural household fluctuated around their 2000 level. In the past rural saving rates were generally higher than urban ones in most provinces, but from 2000 onwards they have fallen below them in several provinces. These trends reflect, among other things, the urbanization of youngest workers, which, despite the limitations imposed by the household registration system, went on steadily in the last few years, increasing the stock of unofficial migrants (Chan, 2008).<sup>24</sup>

According to OECD (2010), in 2005 the unofficial migrant population in urban China amounted to 126 millions of individuals (so called *non-hukou* migration), of which 74 millions coming from rural areas. Our estimates confirm, as expected, that the richest provinces receive the largest net migration inflows; for instance, in Shanghai and Guandong about 30 per cent of the population consists of *non-hokou* migrants; in Beijing such a share reaches 50 per cent. Since access to health care, education, social security services, as well as to better jobs is based on residency, *non-hokou* migrants find themselves in very poor living conditions.

A growing body of literature attributes the increase of household saving rate in urban areas to precautionary motives and liquidity constraints (Horioka and Wan, 2007; Chamon and Prasad, 2010; Jin et al. 2009; Wei and Zhang, 2009). While in M&C regressions these elements were not included, we deem very important to consider them in the analysis.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Unfortunately, to our knowledge, there are no data that allow to estimate internal migration flows from rural to urban areas by age. Nevertheless, it is plausible that such flows consist primarily of young working-age individuals. Assuming that those workers were formerly employed in rural areas, when they move to urban areas the working-age population reduces in rural areas and so does the average saving rate there, while in urban areas, where such a population increases, the average saving rate tends to increase.

Various factors might have contributed to induce higher savings for precautionary motives. In the last fifteen years the urban pension system underwent major changes. The downsizing of the public sector and the restructuring process of the SOEs has led to a significant drop in the number of their employees and to a gradual dismantling of benefits for those still working there.<sup>25</sup>

Since the introduction of the reforms in 1978, aimed at transforming China into a market economy, traditional safety nets have progressively eroded in both rural and urban areas, increasing the need for individuals to save in order to self-insure against adverse shocks. Along with increasing urbanization, in the last fifteen years the urban pension system, previously based on state-owned enterprises (SOEs), where the majority of urban workers were employed, underwent major changes. The downsizing of the public sector and the restructuring process of the SOEs has led to a significant drop in the number of their employees and to a gradual dismantling of benefits for those still working there. At the same time the burden of social spending shifted from enterprises to local governments.

While almost all workers employed in SOEs are covered under the new pension system, the participation is much lower for those employed in private enterprises and almost nil for self-employed and workers without labor contracts.<sup>26</sup> These last two categories, which account for about 60 per cent of total employment in urban areas, and are largely composed by immigrants, need to save in order to self-insure for old-age and to send money to relatives in the countryside. One important reason why workers may choose not to participate to the pension system is because it is fragmented in thousands of diverse municipal sub-systems. As municipalities have different dependency ratios, contribution rates vary among them while benefits are still hardly portable from one municipality to the other. For the mobile, *non-hukou* migrants the lack of portability is a strong limitation spurring them to keep savings high in order to self-insure.

Health care expenditures are another important source of uncertainty. Like the pension system, the health care system is managed locally: medical insurance is based on local schemes and insured patients can access health care only in the area of residency. As a consequence, *non-hukou* migrants have no coverage in the city where they live. Medical care outlays have grown fast in recent years, affecting uninsured as well as insured people, as matter of fact, the latter still have to pay 45 per cent of their own medical expenses (OECD, 2010).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> SOEs are mainly located in urban areas. In 1978, out of 95 millions of urban workers 75 were employed in SOEs, enjoying generous benefits, for pensions, health insurance, schooling and housing. In 2008 65 millions of urban workers, out of 302, were employed in SOEs, with considerably lower benefits. The new pension system has set the replacement rate at 58.5 per cent of average earnings on retirement, down from 80 per cent in the pre-reform period. Such a replacement rate, however, will be hardly reached, as the interest rate used to revalue part of the contributions is considerably lower than the rate of growth of average wages. In 2005 the ratio of the average pension to the average wage was 49 per cent (it was 77 per cent in 1990) and it is projected to decline further, provoking a considerable cut in the pension wealth for the youngest cohort in the labor force (OECD 2010).

It is difficult to quantify how much of the household saving is due to precautionary motives. Jin et al. (2009) estimate the impact of the mid-1990 pension reform on urban savings and found that it increased the saving rate by 6 percentage points for young urban cohorts and by 3 percentage points for the cohort aged 50-59. Barnett and Brooks (2010) assess the impact of public health care spending on household's savings and found that in urban areas for each Yuan increase in government health spending savings decrease by 2 Yuan. Baldacci et al. (2010) using a panel of 24 OECD countries, calculate that in China an increase of 1 percentage point of GDP in social spending would reduce savings by 0.6-1 points of GDP. The effect of heath spending could be much higher, around 2 percentage points of GDP, while a 1 percent increase in education spending could reduce saving by 1.3 percentage points of GDP.

Along with the precautionary motive also liquidity constraints might play a role in this saving puzzle. Chinese households are financially constrained mainly because of a lack of collaterals. Even though in recent years housing and consumer credit expanded rapidly, the high level of down payments (relative to income) required to purchase a house or to buy expensive durable goods force households to save (Zhang and Wan, 2004).

#### 5.2 Econometric analysis of households savings with provincial-level data

To assess the significance of the main determinants of the household saving behavior singled out in previous sections we exploit the variation across provinces as well as among rural and urban realities. To this purpose we construct a panel collecting data on 29 Chinese provinces over the period 1995-2009, using household surveys.<sup>27</sup> We run separate regressions for urban and rural households while also splitting the sample in two subgroups, distinguishing Eastern and Central from Western provinces. There are good reasons to consider the Western provinces separately, over and above their lower development level. In Western provinces government transfers for redistributive purposes are higher, furthermore, as Western China is largely populated by ethnic minorities (Western China accounts for 75 per cent of the country's ethnic minority population) the "one-child" policy is barely in place there. We estimate a regression of the form:

$$SR_{it}^{h} = \alpha^{h} + X_{it}^{'}\beta^{h} + v_{i}^{h} + \varepsilon_{it}^{h}$$
  $i = 1, 2, ..., 29$   $t = 1995-2009$ 

where *h* denotes the type of household (h = urban, rural); *i* the region and *t* the year. The dependent variable is the household saving rate (*SR*). *X* is a vector of explanatory variables which includes those used by M&C and some additional ones aimed at measuring precautionary motives and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> Survey data by province are collected annually by the National Bureau of Statistics of China. A description of the survey can be found on the NBSC website: <u>http://www.stats.gov.cn/tjsj/ndsj/2009/indexeh.htm</u>. China has 31 provinces, we excluded Tibet and Chongqing because data were missing for several years.

liquidity constraints. To capture precautionary motives, in urban regressions we include the share of urban employment in state-owned enterprises (*SOEempsh*). We postulate that precautionary motives should play a lesser role for workers in the SOEs as they enjoy more stable jobs, higher retirement benefits and better health care. In rural regressions we include the urban to rural income ratio in the province (*URRURincratio*). This ratio, is introduced as a proxy for data on family transfers (remittances) from rural migrants. The idea is that higher disparities between urban and rural areas within a province stimulate migration and increase the scope for remittances from migrant workers toward their rural relatives, lowering the need to save for rural households.<sup>28</sup>

We also re-introduce the reciprocal of current real disposable income to account for "Keynesian" motives for savings. This variable was considered by M&C but dismissed as it turned out not significant.

Tables 7a and 7b show that the determinants of the saving rate are indeed quite different for urban and rural households as well as for Central-Eastern and Western provinces. Focusing on the first group of provinces results show that for urban households, over the sample period considered here, long-run growth is not significant. Instead annual deviations from it and the (reciprocal of) current real disposable income have a negative impact on the saving rate, possibly indicating that there are credit constraints limiting consumption smoothing over time. The employment to minors ratio has a positive and slightly significant impact on saving rates as one would anticipate from LCH. But when the employment share in SOEs is introduced, this ratio loses explanatory power, confirming Horioka and Wan (2007) and Chamon and Prasad (2010) findings. The coefficient associated with the employment share in the SOEs is negative and highly significant. A possible interpretation is that more children as well as higher employment in SOEs reduce the need to save for old age.<sup>29</sup>

For urban households living in the Western provinces (columns 5 and 6 of table 7a) only current disposable income turns out significant, indicating that the traditional Keynesian explanation is sufficient.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> Di Stefano (2010) using data from the 2002 Chinese Income Project survey shows that rural migrants (whose median age is 26) have a saving rate slightly above urban average and send about one third of the savings to their relatives.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> The young dependency ratio variable is particularly important for its trend component. In the sample period such a component is common to young dependency ratio and the SOEs' employment share, as they both decreased sharply. On the other hand the cross sectional dimension of the latter has a much greater explanatory power for provincial saving rates, hence when both are considered in the same regression only the SOE variable remain significant.

## Table 7a – Household saving in urban China: M&C regressions on a panel of 29 provinces, 1995-2009– dependent variable: saving rate – FE estimation

Explanatory variables	Urbaı	n total	Urban East	and Central	Urban	West
Long term income growth Deviation from long term income growth E/M (reciprocal of young dependency ratio) Reciprocal of current real disp. income Inflation SOEempsh	-0.11 -0.26** 0.007* -6.23*** 0.08**	-0.11 -0.32*** 0.002 -6.04*** 0.08** -0.06***	-0.27 -0.30** -0.008** -6.47*** 0.09*	-0.21 -0.37*** -0.007 -6.35*** 0.09* -0.08***	0.45 -0.13 -0.002 -7.09** -0.05	0.39 -0.19 -0.02 -6.72** -0.05 -0.03
No. Obs R^2	406 0.65	406 0.67	266 0.73	266 0.75	140 0.54	140 0.55

*Note*: Regional dummies included in all regressions; standard errors are robust to heteroskedasticity and serial correlation; \*\*\* p<0.01; \*\* p<0.05; \* p<0.1. All the variables are at provincial-level. For each geographic group we run two regressions: the first replicate exactly M&C's regressions on provincial-level data, the second includes the variable SOEempsh, not considered by M&C.

In rural regressions (table 7b), long-run growth is barely significant in Eastern and Central provinces and deviations from long-run growth and young dependency ratio do not matter. Higher urban/rural inequality reduces the saving rate, as we anticipated. Current income is slightly significant only in Western provinces. The inflation rate is negative and significant in all regressions, indicating that, in rural areas, households anticipate consumption when inflation rises.

Table 7b – Household saving in rural China: M&C regressions on a panel of 29 provinces,1995-2009 – dependent variable: saving rate – FE estimation

Explanatory variables	Rura	l total	Rural East	and Central	Rural	West
Long term income growth Deviation from long term income growth E/M (reciprocal of young dependency ratio) Reciprocal of current real disp. income Inflation URRURincratio	-1.11* -0.09 -0.006 -0.51 -0.61***	-1.11* -0.17 0.002 -1.07* -0.54*** -0.05***	-0.45 0.18 -0.008 -0.56 -0.65***	-0.56 0.19 -0.002 -1.07 -0.59*** -0.04**	-2.22 0.05 -0.002 -0.75 -0.52**	-2.01* 0.21 0.018 -0.97 -0.46** -0.06**
No. Obs R^2	406 0.34	406 0.38	266 0.39	266 0.36	140 0.41	140 0.42

*Note*: Regional dummies included in all regressions; standard errors are robust to heteroskedasticity and serial correlation; \*\*\* p<0.01; \*\* p<0.05; \* p<0.1. All variables are at provincial-level. For each geographic group we run two regressions: the first replicate exactly M&C's regressions on provincial-level data, the second includes the variable URRURineratio, not considered by M&C.

As a robustness check we estimated our models using a dynamic panel GMM framework, thus allowing for potential endogeneity problems as well as persistence in savings. Since the GMM estimation requires a large number of instruments while the observations are limited, we only run the two separate regressions for urban and rural households without distinguishing among poor and rich provinces. The results in table 8 show that, even controlling for persistence, the evidence derived from the fixed-effects regressions is generally confirmed. The coefficient on the lagged dependent variable for both types of households lies between 0.45 and 0.5, indicating a moderate level of persistence, in line with findings in Horioka and Wan (2007).

For urban households, the deviation from long-term growth and the reciprocal of current real income continue to have a significant negative impact on the saving rate, suggesting that credit constraints might be playing a role. The share of employment in SOEs exerts a negative effect, backing up the precautionary motive hypothesis.

For rural households, GMM estimation confirms the negative effect of long-run growth, the reciprocal of current income, inflation and urban/rural inequality. The GMM model fits the data very well and represents a great improvement compared to fixed-effect regressions (see Appendix B, fig. B1 to B3).

system Olvini						
Explanatory variables	Urban total	Rural total				
saving rate (-1) Long term income growth Deviation from long term income growth E/M (reciprocal of young dependency ratio) Reciprocal of current real disp. income	0.50*** -0.01 -0.15** 0.01 -2.16***	0.45*** -0.49** 0.06 -0.01** -0.78**				
Inflation SOFemosh	0.01	-0.29***				
URRURincratio	0.04	-0.08***				
Number of obsevations	406	406				
Sargan test of overidentifying restrictions (p-value)	0.377	0.326				
Test for AR(1) (p-value)	0.0	0.0				
Test for AR(2) (p-value)	0.45	0.28				

Table 8 – Household saving in urban and rural China: M&C regressions on a panel of 29 provinces, 1995-2009 – dependent variable: saving rate – Arellano-Bond dynamic panel-data estimation, one step system GMM

#### Instruments for differenced equation

		L(2/.).rhsr L(2/.).devltg
	L(2/.).uhsr L(2/.).devItg	L(2/.).rrundi_r L(2/.).infrate
GMM-type:	L(2/.).rruhdi_r L(2/.).infrate	L(2/.).ururincratio
Standard:	D.ltg D.em D.soeempsh	D.ltg D.em
Instruments for level equation		
Standard:	Itg em soeempsh _cons	ltg em _cons

In table 9 we report the long-run impact on personal savings of one standard deviation increase in the value of our regressors.<sup>30</sup> The effects of these variations are not only statistically but also economically significant. A 1.7 percentage points increase in long-term growth reduces the

 $<sup>^{30}</sup>$  With the sole exception of the real disposable income, for which we consider a 10 per cent increase evaluated at the sample mean, since it enters in a non-linear way in the regressions. For summary statistics concerning the regressors see table A3 in the Appendix.

saving rate in rural areas by 1.5 percentage points; a 2.5 percentage points positive deviation of current growth from its long-term trend decreases urban savings by 0.7 percentage points. Wage inequality between urban and rural households has a strong impact on rural savings, a one standard deviation increase in the wage ratio reduces saving by 3.6 percentage points. For urban families, an important factor is given by the share of employees enjoying the greater protection of SOE contracts: a one standard deviation increase in this share reduces savings by 0.7 percentage points.

Explanatory variable	increase	Change ins	saving rate
	one s.d.; unless		
	otherwise indicated	Urban	Rural
		percenta	ge points
Long term income growth	1.7 (pp)	0	-1.5
Deviation from long term income growth	2.4 (pp)	-0.7	0
E/M (reciprocal of young dependency ratio)	1.5	0	-1.9
Real disposable income (1)	10.0 (%)	0.5	0.5
Inflation	6.9 (pp)	0	-3.6
SOEempsh (2)	8.3 (pp)	-0.7	0
URRURineratio (3)	0.25	0	-3.6

Table 9. Estimated effects on household saving rates (according to GMM results)

Notes: pp indicates percentage points. (1) Evaluated at the sample mean; we consider an increase of real annual disposable income of 788 Yuan for urban households and 290 Yuan for rural households. (2) Standard deviation is computed on cross-province time averages (see table A3). (3) Standard deviation is computed on cross-time provincial averages (see table A3).

We might conclude that policies that permanently increase long-run income growth in the countryside and improve welfare provision in regular labour contracts in urban areas are most effective in reducing household savings. Provincial level estimates do not support traditional life cycle/permanent income hypotheses as claimed also in Chamon and Prasad (2010) and Horioka and Wan (2007). Households saving rates show a moderate level of inertia; long-run income growth and demographic factors do not help to explain savings in urban areas. On the contrary, credit constraints and precautionary motives seem more powerful explanations.

#### 6. Conclusions and policy implications

Our main points are the following: (1) aggregate time series evidence does not fully support the LCH as an explanation of rising personal savings in China, once we take into account data for the last decade and contrary to results in Modigliani and Cao (2004); (2) most recent data show clearly that urban and rural households behaved differently with the first being responsible for most of the recent rise in savings rate; (3) neither demographic factors, nor rapid growth seem able to explain this fact; (4) hence the "one size fits all" assumption implicit in the aggregate analysis is put into question; (5) using provincial level data, exploiting the variation across provinces as well as among rural and urban realities we conclude that precautionary motives and liquidity constraints appear to be the likely causes of the recent increase in household savings in urban China.

Results drawn form aggregate data might hide very different responses, to the same variables, at a disaggregated level. This has important implications from a policy perspective. The lack of adequate social safety nets and the uncertainties induced by recent reforms are boosting selfinsurance needs especially for pension and health care purposes. Precautionary motives can explain the high saving rate of elders, for which health care expenditures are of a growing relevance, as well as the foregone consumption of young households that save for their children education (see Brugiavini et al., 2010 and Chamon and Prasad, 2010). These needs are not temporary in nature. Addressing them requires government intervention primarily aimed at improving and harmonizing welfare provisions across municipalities and provinces, facilitating the portability of benefits and granting the access to public services for rural immigrants.

Table 10 shows that the government has indeed plenty of room to act quickly in increasing (and reallocating) spending for education, social security and health care. Total public expenditure in these areas is very low in terms of GDP and as a share of total government outlavs.<sup>31</sup> As urbanization will continue to increase, central government intervention should not only reduce labor market segmentations, but also at enforce formal labor contracts which would raise migrant workers' wages while requiring employers to contribute to social insurance funds.<sup>32</sup> A side effect of the advancement of urban workers economic situation, as shown by our results, is to reduce the propensity to save in the countryside through remittances.

<sup>31</sup> Even compared with South Korea, which has the lowest public social expenditure as percentage of GDP within the OECD countries and a demographic structure similar to China, the Chinese government spends about fifty percent less as a share of GDP overall in social and education programs. <sup>32</sup> These policies should be implemented at central level, since local governments might have incentives to not enforce labor market

regulations in order to attract businesses (see Park et al., 2010).

			Social	
	Other		security and	
	expenditures	Education	employment	Health care
	%	of total governi	ment expenditure	s
2007	70.8	14.3	10.9	4.0
2008	70.3	14.4	10.9	4.4
2009	71.1	13.7	10.0	5.2
0007	10.0	% of	GDP	0.7
2007	13.3	2.7	2.0	0.7
2008	14.0	2.9	2.2	0.9
2003	10.0	5.1	2.2	1.2
Memorandum:	2006	2007	2008	2009
Government Balance as % of GDP	-1.0	0.2	-0.8	-2.8

#### Table 10 China: overall (central and local) government expenditures

Source: authors' elaborations on CEIC data.

Personal savings are also kept high by the obstacles that the financial underdevelopment poses to consumption smoothing. In the medium-run government intervention should reduce the shortage of financial instrument to facilitate households' access to credit and financial assets diversification.<sup>33</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> An important area of intervention, not analyzed in this paper, is land property rights. A better definition of these rights, particularly in rural areas, would provide a much needed collateral for households (see Marconi and Santoro, 2006).

#### References

[1] Barnett, S., and R. Brooks, (2010), "China: does government health and education spending boost consumption?" IMF Working Paper No. 10/16.

[2] Baldacci, E., G. Callegari, D. Coady, D. Ding, M. Kumar, P. Tommasino, and J. Woo (2010) "Public Expenditures on Social Programs and Household Consumption in China". IMF Working Paper No. 10/69.

[3] Bayoumi, T., H. Tong, and S. Wei, (2010), "The Chinese corporate cavings cuzzle: A firm-level cross-country perspective". IMF Working Paper No. 10/275.

[4] Bernanke, B., (2005), "Remarks by Governor Ben S. Bernanke: *The Global Saving Glut and the U.S. Current Account Deficit.*" The Sandridge Lecture, Virginia Association of Economists, Richmond, VA (March 10). URL: <u>http://www.federalreserve.gov/boarddocs/speeches/2005/20050414/default.htm</u>

[5] Blanchard, O., (2009), "Sustaining the Recovery: Challenges on the Supply and the Demand Side" *Finance & Development*, Vol. 46, No. 3, p. 8-12.

[6] Blanchard, O. & F. Giavazzi, (2006), "Rebalancing growth in China: a three handed approach", CEPR Discussion Paper No. 5403. Available at SSRN: <u>http://ssrn.com/abstract=892870</u>

[7] Browning, M. & A. Lusardi, (1996), "Households Saving: Micro Theories and Micro Facts", *Journal of Economic Literature*, vol. XXXIV, pp. 1797-1855.

[8] Brugiavini A., G. Weber & B. Wu, (2010), "Saving rates of urban households in China", paper presented at the workshop "*The Chinese economy*" held at Venice International University, 25/27 November 2010.

[9] Carroll, C. D., J. Overland and D. N. Weil (2000), "Saving and Growth with Habit Formation". *American Economic Review*, 90(3):341–355.

[10] Chamon, M. and E. Prasad, (2010), "Why are saving rates of urban household in China rising?" *American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics*, 2(1), 93–130.

[11] Chan, K. W., (2008), "Internal labour migration in China: Trends, geographical distribution and policies". UN/POP/EGM-URB/2008/05.

[12] Deaton, A. (1992), "Understanding Consumption", Clarendon Press, Oxford.

**[13]** Deaton, A. and C. Paxson (2000) "Growth and Saving among Individuals and Households", *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 82(2), pp. 212-225.

**[14]** Di Stefano, E. (2010) "Demographic Trends and Sustainability of the Old-Age Security System in China". Bank of Italy, Mimeo (an earlier version of the paper was presented at the workshop "*The Chinese economy*" held at Venice International University, 25/27 November 2010).

**[15]** Hayashi, F. (1986), "Why Is Japan's Saving Rate So Apparently High?", in Fischer, S. (ed.), *NBER Macroeconomics Annual 1986*, pp. 147-210, Vol. I, MIT Press, Cambridge, MA.

[16] Hayashi, F. (1989), "Japan's Saving Rate: New Data and Reflections". NBER Working Paper No. 3205.

[17] Horioka C., and J. Wan, (2007), "The determinants of household saving in China: a dynamic panel analysis of provincial data". Journal of Money Credit and Banking, 39(8), pp. 2077-2096.

[18] IMF, (2009), "World Economic Outlook", IMF, October 2009.

[19] IMF, (2010), "World Economic Outlook", IMF, April 2010.

[20] Jin, F., L. He and H. Sato, (2009), "Public pension and household saving: Evidence from China", BOFIT Discussion Papers, n.2 (2009).

[21] Loayza N., K. Schmidt-Hebbel and L. Serve'n, (2000), "What drives private savings across the world", *The Review of Economics and Statistics*, 82(2), pp. 165-181.

[22] Marconi, D., and S. Santoro, (2006), "Rural and urban households savings determinants in China". Bank of Italy, mimeo.

**[23]** Modigliani, F & R. Brumberg (1954), "Utility Analysis and the Consumption Function: An Interpretation of the Cross-Section Data," in *Post-Keynesian Economics*, eds.: Kenneth Kurihara. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers U. Press, 1954, pp. 388–436.

[24] Modigliani, F., and S. Cao, (2004), "The Chinese saving puzzle and the life-cycle hypothesis" *Journal of economic literature 42(1)*: pp.145-70

[25] Morishima, M., (1982), "<u>Why has Japan 'succeeded'?</u>", Cambridge University Press.

[26] Krugman, P., (2010), "Capital Export, Elasticity Pessimism, and the Renminbi (Wonkish)", *New York Times blogs*, 16 March 2010.

[27] Obstfeld, M. and K. Rogoff, (2009) "Global imbalances and the financial crisis: Products of common causes". University of California, Berkeley, and Harvard University. Paper prepared for the Federal Reserve Bank of San Francisco Asia Economic Policy Conference, Santa Barbara, CA, October 18-20, 2009.

[28] OECD, (2004), "Comparison of households saving ratios: Euro area, United States, Japan" in *Statistic Brief*, no. 8.

[29] OECD, (2010), Economic Surveys: China, OECD Paris.

**[30]** Zhou, X., (2009), "On savings ratio", keynote address by Dr Zhou Xiaochuan, Governor of the People's Bank of China, at the High Level Conference hosted by the Central Bank of Malaysia, Kuala Lumpur, 10 February 2009.

[31] Wang, F. L., (1997), "Chinese labor market in the late 1990s." Georgia Tech CIBER working paper No. 97-006.

**[32]** Wei, S., and X. Zhang, 2009, "The competitive saving motive: evidence from rising sex ratios and saving rates in China". NBER working Paper No. 15093.

[33] Zhang, W., Z. Zhang, and G. Han (2010), "How does the US Credit Crisis Affect the Asia-Pacific Economies? – Analysis based on a general equilibrium model", *Journal of Asian Economics*, Vol. (21), p.280-292.

[34] Zhang, Y., and G. W. Wan, (2004), "Liquidity constraint, uncertainty and household consumption in China". *Applied Economics*, 36, pp. 2221-2229.

### **Appendix A: Data**

#### A1. Data Sources

"Modigliani and Cao" regressions over the sample period 1953-2000, reported in Table 4, are conducted using original data from Modigliani and Cao (2004; Table 1, p. 147).

"Modigliani and Cao" regressions on the "extended" period (1953-2008), reported in Table 5, are run on an updated version of the original dataset. We updated the variables as follows:

Variable	Method	Source
Household Consumption	1952-1991	Modigliani and Cao (2004; Table 1 p.
(nommar)	data from Modigliani and Cao	147)
	1992-2008	National Bureau of Statistics China.
	data from National Accounts - Flow-of-Funds statistics.	
Household Saving (nominal)	1952-1991	Modigliani and Cao (2004; Table 1 p.
	data from Modigliani and Cao	147)
	1992-2008	National Bureau of Statistics China.
	data from National Accounts - Flow-of-Funds statistics.	
Household Income (nominal) <sup>34</sup>	Household Consumption + Household Saving	Modigliani and Cao (2004; Table 1 p. 147)
		National Bureau of Statistics China.
Household Saving Ratio	Household Saving/Household Income	Modigliani and Cao (2004; Table 1 p. 147)
		National Bureau of Statistics China.
СРІ	1952-2000	Modigliani and Cao (2004; Table 1 p.
	data from Modigliani and Cao	147)
	2001-2008	National Bureau of Statistics China.
	Consumer Price Index, previous year=100	
Population	1952-2008 Total population by census	National Bureau of Statistics China.
E/M	1952-1988	Modigliani and Cao (2004; Table 1 p.
	data from Modigliani and Cao	147)
	1988-2008	Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security
	Total Employment/Population aged 0-14	National Bureau of Statistics

Table A1	"Modigliani an	d Cao"	extended	dataset

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup> Real figures for household income are obtained deflating nominal figures by the consumer price index.

Regressions reported in tables 7a and 7b are based on household survey data by province. Household survey data at provincial level are collected annually by the National Bureau of Statistics and are available for urban and rural households. Disposable income and consumption expenditures are available only in nominal per-capita terms. A fully balanced set of data for rural and urban households spans from the period 1995-2008. Data sources and methodologies are described in table A2.

Variable	Period/Method/Availability	Source
Disposable per Capita Income (nominal) <sup>35</sup>	1995-2008 For urban household data refers to disposable income; for rural households it refers to net income	Household survey - National Bureau of Statistics China.
Consumption Expenditure per Capita (nominal)	1995-2008 Available for urban and rural households	Household survey - National Bureau of Statistics China.
Household Saving Ratio	<ul><li>1995-2008</li><li>Urban Household: (disposable income per capita- consumption expenditure per capita)/disposable income per capita</li><li>Rural Household: (net income per capita- consumption expenditure per capita)/net income per capita</li></ul>	Household survey - National Bureau of Statistics China.
СРІ	1995-2008 For rural and urban areas CPI is available as previous year=100	National Bureau of Statistics China.
Population	1995-2008 population by census available at provincial level	National Bureau of Statistics China.
Young dependency ratio	1995-2008 population aged 0-14 in the province/ population aged 15-64 in the province	Population survey (Registered population) National Bureau of Statistics China.
Employment in SOE	1995-2008 Available at provincial level	China Statistical Yearbook- National Bureau of Statistics China; Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security.
Employment	1995-2008 Urban employment: Total employment	Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security

Table A2 Provincial-data data
-------------------------------

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup> Real figures for household income are obtained deflating nominal figures by the consumer price index.

## A2. Discrepancies between flow-of-funds-based and household survey-based measures of saving in China.

It is well known that national level statistics are seldom completely coherent with aggregations derived from survey and we do not expect this to be contradicted by data on China. Data may not only be affected by measurement errors but also they often refers to different concepts. Differences in the definition of consumption, population of reference and income sources prevent a direct comparison between aggregate measures of saving rates and measures derived from micro sources. However it is important to establish to what extent the main trends showed by national level data are borne also by the evidence derived aggregating micro data. A comparison between household saving rates derived from flow-of-funds statistics and those derived from urban and rural household surveys highlights wide differences in time profiles over the period 1992-2008.



#### Fig. A1 China: households saving rate (per cent)

Major differences emerges from 1995 to 2000, when the flow of funds saving rate is more or less stable while household survey's one is trending upward steeply, on the contrary from 2000 onwards the flow of funds saving rate start to increase at a much faster pace compared to that derived from the household survey. As for the levels, wide gaps emerge with the flow of funds saving rate lying always above that of survey (about 12 points of disposable income in 2008, fig. A1). Further insight can be gained by looking separately at the two determinants of the saving rate: income and saving per capita. As can be seen (fig. A2) in both cases survey data give a lower estimate in terms of levels and the gap between the series, almost constant considering disposable income, is widening in the case of savings, likely reflecting different definition of consumption in the two accounting systems. In particular, household saving derived from survey data does not include household investment (Kraay, 2000). In addition, underestimation might due to low coverage or underreporting of high income households.

Despite these large differences, however, we maintain that the main trend we are interested in, i.e. the sharp rise in savings, are not affected by the choice of data. We can therefore be confident that the internal coherence of data allow us to carry a meaningful analysis on provincial-level data with a bearing also in explaining aggregate behavior.

#### Fig. A2 China households disposable income and savings

Comparison between flow of funds and households' survey data



A3. Summary statistics.

Variable	mean	max	min	sd
UH saving rate	22.4	36	12.9	4.91
RH saving rate	23.3	51.6	-6.4	10.27
Long term income growth	10.85	15.56	7.06	1.72
Deviation from long term income growth	0.61	11.09	-10.07	2.45
E/M (reciprocal of young dependency ratio)	3.66	10.37	1.9	1.46
UH real disposable income	7875	25234	3144	3815
RH real disp. income	2903	10922	946	1617
Inflation	4.43	26.9	-3.24	6.9
SOEempsh*	47.9	60.9	28.2	8.29
URRURincratio**	2.85	3.1	2.43	0.25

Table A3 summary statistics of main variables

\* Computed on cross-province time averages. \*\* Computed on cross-time provincial averages.

#### Table A4 Basic Conditions of Urban Households

Item	1990	1995	2000	2008	2009
Average Household Size (person)	3.50	3.23	3.13	2.91	2.89
Average Number of Employed Persons Per	1.98	1.87	1.68	1.48	1.49
Household (person)					
Proportion of Employment per Household (%)	56.57	57.89	53.67	50.86	51.56
Number of Dependents per Employee					
(including the employee himself or herself) (person)	1.77	1.73	1.86	1.97	1.94
Per Capita Annual Income (yuan)	1516.21	4279.02	6295.91	17067.78	18858.09
Income from Wages and Salaries	1149.70	3390.21	4480.50	11298.96	12382.11
Net Business Income	22.50	72.62	246.24	1453.57	1528.68
Income from Properties	15.60	90.43	128.38	387.02	431.84
Income from Transfer	328.41	725.76	1440.78	3928.23	4515.45
Disposable Income	1510.16	4282.95	6279.98	15780.76	17174.65
Per Capita Annual Consumption Expenditure (yuan)	1278.89	3537.57	4998.00	11242.85	12264.55
Saving deposits per capita (% disposable income)	61.1	155.7	180.5	183.7	n.a.
Saving rate (% disposable income)	15.3	17.4	20.4	28.8	28.6
Composition of Per Capita Annual Consumption					
Expenditure (%)					
Food	54.3	50.1	39.4	37.9	36.5
Clothing	13.4	13.5	10.0	10.4	10.5
Residence	7.0	8.0	11.3	10.2	10.0
Household Facilities, Articles and Services	10.1	7.4	7.5	6.2	6.4
Health Care and Medical Services	2.0	3.1	6.4	7.0	7.0
Transport and Communication	1.2	5.2	8.5	12.6	13.7
Education, Cultural and Recreation Services	11.1	9.4	13.4	12.1	12.0
Miscellaneous Goods and Services	0.9	3.2	3.4	3.7	3.9

#### Table A5 Basic Conditions of Rural Households

Item	1990	1995	2000	2008	2009
Average Number of Permanent Residents	4.80	4.48	4.20	4.01	3.98
Per Household					
Average Number of Full/Semi Labour Force	2.92	2.88	2.76	2.85	2.85
Per Household					
Average Number of Dependents per Labour Force					
(including the laborer himself or herself)	1.64	1.56	1.52	1.41	1.40
Per Capita Annual Income (yuan)					
Total Income	990.38	2337.87	3146.21	6700.69	7115.57
Income from Wages and Salaries	138.80	353.70	702.30	1853.73	2061.25
Income from Household Operations	815.79	1877.42	2251.28	4302.08	4404.01
Income from Properties	35.79	40.98	45.04	148.08	167.20
Income from Transfers		65.77	147.59	396.79	483.12
Per Capita Annual Net Income (yuan)	686.31	1577.74	2253.42	4760.62	5153.17
Saving deposits per cata (% of net income)	47.0	45.7	67.9	122.0	n.a.
Saving rate (% disposable income)	14.8	16.9	25.9	23.1	22.5
Composition of Per Capita Annual Consumption					
Expenditure (%)					
Food	58.8	58.6	49.1	45.5	41.0
Clothing	7.8	6.9	5.7	5.8	5.8
Residence	17.3	13.9	15.5	14.5	20.2
Household Facilities, Articles and Services	5.3	5.2	4.5	4.4	5.1
Health Care and Medical Services	3.3	3.2	5.2	6.6	7.2
Transport and Communication	1.4	2.6	5.6	9.6	10.1
Education, Cultural and Recreation Services	5.4	7.8	11.2	11.6	8.5
Miscellaneous Goods and Services	0.7	1.8	3.1	2.1	2.1

Source: China Statistical Yearbook 2010 and authors' elaborations.

### Appendix B: Tables and Figures

	international comparison of key indicators of overall economic structure and performance											
	Gross domes of C	itic savings (% GDP)	Househ consumpti	old final on (% GDP)	Industry, va GI	lue added (% DP)	Sector valu	e added (% GDP - 2007)	GDP per capit interna	a, PPP (current tional \$)	% growth in	p.c. GDP (PPP)
	1990	2007	1990	2007	1990	2007	Exports	Manufacturing	1990	2008	overall	annual
China	39.6	52.2	46.2	34.1	41.3	48.5	39.7	34.0	793.5	5970.8	752	11.9
India	22.7	35.2	65.6	54.7	26.9	29.5	21.2	16.3	871.7	2946.5	338	7.0
Indonesia	32.3	29.0	58.9	62.7	39.1	46.8	29.4	27.1	1506.6	3993.7	265	5.6
Korea, Rep.	36.4	30.9	51.7	54.4	41.6	37.1	41.9	27.3	8187.6	27657.8	338	7.0
Thailand	33.8	34.1	56.8	53.7	37.2	44.7	72.7	35.6	2859.2	8086.4	283	5.9
Vietnam	3.3	28.2	84.3	66.7	22.7	41.5	76.9	21.4	651.4	2787.3	428	8.4
Japan	34.1	25.8	52.5	56.3	39.7	29.3	17.6	21.2	18796.9	34129.5	182	3.4
Brazil	21.4	19.3	59.3	60.8	38.7	28.1	13.7	17.4	5181.7	10304.3	199	3.9
Russian Federation	30.3	32.9	48.9	49.9	48.4	37.7	30.3	18.5	9116.5	15922.5	175	3.1
France	21.2	20.3	57.1	56.6	27.1	20.4	26.5	12.3	17267.9	33058.4	191	3.7
Germany	23.1	25.3	57.6	56.7	37.3	30.4	46.9	23.9	18372.6	35373.9	193	3.7
Italy	22.5	21.6	57.3	58.7	32.1	27.5	29.0	18.2	17595.1	31282.6	178	3.2
United Kingdom	18.1	14.9	62.2	64.0	34.1	23.0	26.4	13.3	16319.5	35467.5	217	4.4
United States	16.3	13.2	66.7	70.7	27.9	21.8	12.1	13.7	23063.6	46350.4	201	4.0
High income	22.7	20.6	59.8	61.5	32.5	25.7	28.1	16.8	17992.2	37124.4	206	4.1
Middle income	26.5	31.3	60.1	55.0	37.2	37.4	32.7	21.7	2246.2	6213.5	277	5.8
Low & middle income	25.8	30.8	60.8	55.6	36.5	37.1	32.8	21.4	1998.6	5369.3	269	5.6
Low income	8.1	15.2	79.6	75.0	21.6	28.9	34.2	14.4	607.6	1351.9	223	4.5

Table B1

International comparison of key indicators of overall economic structure and performance

Source: World Development Indicators, 2009 and authors' calculations

# Table B2. Household real disposable income, saving rate and government spending by province

					2000 00	aver ages)					
		Real dis income	posable (RMB)	Househo ra	ld saving ite	Depender (% total p	ncy ratios opulation)	Governmen	it spending fregional GI	% DP	
Region	geo	Urban	Rural	Urban	Rural	young (0-14)	old (65+)	total (ex. education & health care)	education & health care	social security <sup>(1)</sup>	Share of urban employment in SOE
Beijing	East	20467	8705	28.3	31.6	12.3	13.3	13.7	3.9	2.0	23.3
Fujian	East	14082	4922	29.3	25.5	24.5	13.5	7.4	2.5	1.0	22.9
Guangdong	East	16119	5156	20.9	24.2	26.3	10.0	7.9	2.2	1.0	19.1
Hainan	East	9826	3405	24.7	32.8	31.2	12.7	16.1	4.3	3.4	41.4
Hebei	East	10186	3708	30.2	34.8	22.0	11.6	8.3	2.6	1.7	47.3
Jiangsu	East	14298	5745	34.0	27.8	19.3	15.2	7.8	2.2	0.8	18.2
Liaoning	East	10974	4276	22.8	28.7	16.2	14.2	13.1	2.7	3.5	33.3
Shandong	East	12469	4374	31.8	27.7	20.6	12.9	6.6	2.0	0.9	30.4
Shanghai	East	21565	9340	27.6	15.2	10.2	17.8	15.1	3.0	2.4	21.5
Tianjin	East	14810	6263	27.8	49.2	14.7	14.5	10.4	2.7	1.7	32.6
Zhejiang	East	18277	7378	30.6	17.9	19.4	13.9	7.2	2.6	0.7	15.5
Eastern regions											
average		14825	5752	28.0	28.7	19.7	13.6	10.3	2.8	1.7	27.8
Ambui	Orighted	0010	0404	05.0	04.0	20.0	45.0	40.0	0.7	0.0	05.0
Annui	Central	9918	3104	25.9	21.0	30.2	15.3	13.2	3.7	2.6	35.2
Heliongjiang	Central	9038	3650	26.6	23.9	17.0	11.Z	13.6	3.4	2.8	45.2
Henan	Central	9684	3244	32.3	31.3	28.4	10.9	9.2	2.9	1.8	41.5
Hubei	Central	9697	3398	25.6	21.4	21.3	13.4	11.1	3.0	2.5	38.3
Hunan	Central	10435	3363	25.7	13.4	23.7	14.5	11.9	3.0	2.8	36.3
Jiangxi	Central	9993	3600	31.5	26.1	34.2	12.6	12.9	3.8	2.8	38.9
Jilin	Central	9818	3696	24.4	27.6	16.3	11.1	13.9	3.4	3.1	42.0
Shanxi	Central	10062	3173	30.4	26.8	26.3	10.1	14.9	3.9	3.1	52.8
Central regions											
average		9831	3404	27.8	23.9	24.7	12.4	12.6	3.4	2.7	41.3
Gansu	West	8429	2024	22.5	12.8	29.6	11.0	20.0	6.2	4.8	52.7
Guangxi	West	10312	2759	32.2	15.6	32.0	13.3	12.5	4.0	1.8	41.7
Guizhou	West	9002	2037	27.1	20.0	41.3	12.6	21.5	7.7	3.2	49.8
Inner Mongolia	West	10665	3429	25.3	19.0	20.4	10.5	14.7	3.1	2.5	41.9
Ningxia	West	9315	2722	25.2	18.3	33.4	8.9	22.1	5.8	3.4	39.6
Qinghai	West	8412	2205	28.0	7.3	31.4	9.6	29.0	6.7	6.8	39.8
Shaanxi	West	9606	2349	21.4	3.9	23.8	12.8	15.2	4.3	3.6	51.4
Sichuan	West	9199	2966	21.5	22.3	26.9	16.1	15.1	3.5	3.6	35.9
Xinjiang	West	8791	2706	24.0	25.0	30.3	9.6	18.2	5.1	2.6	49.9
Yunnan	West	9963	2284	29.8	2.0	32.1	10.9	18.4	5.6	3.9	37.9
Western regions											
average		9369	2548	25.7	14.6	30.1	11.5	18.7	5.2	3.6	44.1
· •											

(2006-08 averages)

Source: China Statistical Yearbook, various years, and authors' elaborations.

#### Figure B1a





Urban household saving rate by region: actual and fitted values from system-GMM estimation











Fig. 1	B3a
--------	-----



Fig. B3b



#### RECENTLY PUBLISHED "TEMI" (\*)

- N. 811 Schooling and youth mortality: learning from a mass military exemption, by Piero Cipollone and Alfonso Rosolia (June 2011).
- N. 812 Welfare costs of inflation and the circulation of US currency abroad, by Alessandro Calza and Andrea Zaghini (June 2011).
- N. 813 Legal status of immigrants and criminal behavior: evidence from a natural experiment, by Giovanni Mastrobuoni and Paolo Pinotti (June 2011).
- N. 814 An unexpected crisis? Looking at pricing effectiveness of different banks, by Valerio Vacca (July 2011).
- N. 815 Skills or culture? An analysis of the decision to work by immigrant women in Italy, by Antonio Accetturo and Luigi Infante (July 2011).
- N. 816 Home bias in interbank lending and banks' resolution regimes, by Michele Manna (July 2011).
- N. 817 Macroeconomic determinants of carry trade activity, by Alessio Anzuini and Fabio Fornari (September 2011).
- N. 818 *Leaving home and housing prices. The experience of Italian youth emancipation*, by Francesca Modena and Concetta Rondinelli (September 2011).
- N. 819 The interbank market after the financial turmoil: squeezing liquidity in a "lemons market" or asking liquidity "on tap", by Antonio De Socio (September 2011).
- N. 820 The relationship between the PMI and the Italian index of industrial production and the impact of the latest economic crisis, by Valentina Aprigliano (September 2011).
- N. 821 Inside the sovereign credit default swap market: price discovery, announcements, market behaviour and corporate sector, by Alessandro Carboni (September 2011).
- N. 822 The demand for energy of Italian households, by Ivan Faiella (September 2011).
- N. 823 Sull'ampiezza ottimale delle giurisdizioni locali: il caso delle province italiane, by Guglielmo Barone (September 2011).
- N. 824 *The public-private pay gap: a robust quantile approach*, by Domenico Depalo and Raffaela Giordano (September 2011).
- N. 825 *Evaluating students' evaluations of professors*, by Michele Braga, Marco Paccagnella and Michele Pellizzari (October 2011).
- N. 826 Do interbank customer relationships exist? And how did they function in the crisis? Learning from Italy, by Massimiliano Affinito (October 2011).
- N. 827 Foreign trade, home linkages and the spatial transmission of economic fluctuations in Italy, by Valter Di Giacinto (October 2011).
- N. 828 *Healthcare in Italy: expenditure determinants and regional differentials*, by Maura Francese and Marzia Romanelli (October 2011).
- N. 829 Bank heterogeneity and interest rate setting: what lessons have we learned since Lehman Brothers?, by Leonardo Gambacorta and Paolo Emilio Mistrulli (October 2011).
- N. 830 Structural reforms and macroeconomic performance in the euro area countries: a model-based assessment, by Sandra Gomes, Pascal Jacquinot, Matthias Mohr and Massimiliano Pisani (October 2011).
- N. 831 *Risk measures for autocorrelated hedge fund returns*, by Antonio Di Cesare, Philip A. Stork and Casper G. de Vries (October 2011).

<sup>(\*)</sup> Requests for copies should be sent to:

Banca d'Italia – Servizio Studi di struttura economica e finanziaria – Divisione Biblioteca e Archivio storico – Via Nazionale, 91 – 00184 Rome – (fax 0039 06 47922059). They are available on the Internet www.bancaditalia.it.

- P. ANGELINI, *Liquidity and announcement effects in the euro area*, Giornale degli Economisti e Annali di Economia, v. 67, 1, pp. 1-20, **TD No. 451 (October 2002).**
- P. ANGELINI, P. DEL GIOVANE, S. SIVIERO and D. TERLIZZESE, *Monetary policy in a monetary union: What role for regional information?*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 4, 3, pp. 1-28, **TD No.** 457 (December 2002).
- F. SCHIVARDI and R. TORRINI, *Identifying the effects of firing restrictions through size-contingent Differences in regulation*, Labour Economics, v. 15, 3, pp. 482-511, **TD No. 504 (June 2004).**
- L. GUISO and M. PAIELLA,, *Risk aversion, wealth and background risk*, Journal of the European Economic Association, v. 6, 6, pp. 1109-1150, **TD No. 483 (September 2003).**
- C. BIANCOTTI, G. D'ALESSIO and A. NERI, *Measurement errors in the Bank of Italy's survey of household income and wealth*, Review of Income and Wealth, v. 54, 3, pp. 466-493, **TD No. 520 (October 2004).**
- S. MOMIGLIANO, J. HENRY and P. HERNÁNDEZ DE COS, The impact of government budget on prices: Evidence from macroeconometric models, Journal of Policy Modelling, v. 30, 1, pp. 123-143 TD No. 523 (October 2004).
- L. GAMBACORTA, *How do banks set interest rates?*, European Economic Review, v. 52, 5, pp. 792-819, **TD No. 542 (February 2005).**
- P. ANGELINI and A. GENERALE, On the evolution of firm size distributions, American Economic Review, v. 98, 1, pp. 426-438, **TD No. 549 (June 2005).**
- R. FELICI and M. PAGNINI, *Distance, bank heterogeneity and entry in local banking markets*, The Journal of Industrial Economics, v. 56, 3, pp. 500-534, **No. 557 (June 2005).**
- S. DI ADDARIO and E. PATACCHINI, *Wages and the city. Evidence from Italy*, Labour Economics, v.15, 5, pp. 1040-1061, **TD No. 570 (January 2006).**
- S. SCALIA, *Is foreign exchange intervention effective?*, Journal of International Money and Finance, v. 27, 4, pp. 529-546, **TD No. 579 (February 2006).**
- M. PERICOLI and M. TABOGA, Canonical term-structure models with observable factors and the dynamics of bond risk premia, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 40, 7, pp. 1471-88, TD No. 580 (February 2006).
- E. VIVIANO, *Entry regulations and labour market outcomes. Evidence from the Italian retail trade sector*, Labour Economics, v. 15, 6, pp. 1200-1222, **TD No. 594 (May 2006).**
- S. FEDERICO and G. A. MINERVA, Outward FDI and local employment growth in Italy, Review of World Economics, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 144, 2, pp. 295-324, TD No. 613 (February 2007).
- F. BUSETTI and A. HARVEY, *Testing for trend*, Econometric Theory, v. 24, 1, pp. 72-87, **TD No. 614** (February 2007).
- V. CESTARI, P. DEL GIOVANE and C. ROSSI-ARNAUD, Memory for prices and the Euro cash changeover: an analysis for cinema prices in Italy, In P. Del Giovane e R. Sabbatini (eds.), The Euro Inflation and Consumers' Perceptions. Lessons from Italy, Berlin-Heidelberg, Springer, TD No. 619 (February 2007).
- B. H. HALL, F. LOTTI and J. MAIRESSE, Employment, innovation and productivity: evidence from Italian manufacturing microdata, Industrial and Corporate Change, v. 17, 4, pp. 813-839, TD No. 622 (April 2007).
- J. SOUSA and A. ZAGHINI, *Monetary policy shocks in the Euro Area and global liquidity spillovers*, International Journal of Finance and Economics, v.13, 3, pp. 205-218, **TD No. 629 (June 2007).**
- M. DEL GATTO, GIANMARCO I. P. OTTAVIANO and M. PAGNINI, Openness to trade and industry cost dispersion: Evidence from a panel of Italian firms, Journal of Regional Science, v. 48, 1, pp. 97-129, TD No. 635 (June 2007).
- P. DEL GIOVANE, S. FABIANI and R. SABBATINI, What's behind "inflation perceptions"? A survey-based analysis of Italian consumers, in P. Del Giovane e R. Sabbatini (eds.), The Euro Inflation and Consumers' Perceptions. Lessons from Italy, Berlin-Heidelberg, Springer, TD No. 655 (January 2008).
- R. BRONZINI, G. DE BLASIO, G. PELLEGRINI and A. SCOGNAMIGLIO, La valutazione del credito d'imposta per gli investimenti, Rivista di politica economica, v. 98, 4, pp. 79-112, TD No. 661 (April 2008).

- B. BORTOLOTTI, and P. PINOTTI, *Delayed privatization*, Public Choice, v. 136, 3-4, pp. 331-351, **TD No.** 663 (April 2008).
- R. BONCI and F. COLUMBA, *Monetary policy effects: New evidence from the Italian flow of funds*, Applied Economics, v. 40, 21, pp. 2803-2818, **TD No. 678 (June 2008).**
- M. CUCCULELLI, and G. MICUCCI, *Family Succession and firm performance: evidence from Italian family firms*, Journal of Corporate Finance, v. 14, 1, pp. 17-31, **TD No. 680 (June 2008).**
- A. SILVESTRINI and D. VEREDAS, *Temporal aggregation of univariate and multivariate time series models: a survey*, Journal of Economic Surveys, v. 22, 3, pp. 458-497, **TD No. 685 (August 2008).**

2009

- F. PANETTA, F. SCHIVARDI and M. SHUM, *Do mergers improve information? Evidence from the loan market*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v. 41, 4, pp. 673-709, **TD No. 521 (October 2004).**
- M. BUGAMELLI and F. PATERNÒ, *Do workers' remittances reduce the probability of current account reversals?*, World Development, v. 37, 12, pp. 1821-1838, **TD No. 573 (January 2006).**
- P. PAGANO and M. PISANI, *Risk-adjusted forecasts of oil prices*, The B.E. Journal of Macroeconomics, v. 9, 1, Article 24, **TD No. 585 (March 2006).**
- M. PERICOLI and M. SBRACIA, The CAPM and the risk appetite index: theoretical differences, empirical similarities, and implementation problems, International Finance, v. 12, 2, pp. 123-150, TD No. 586 (March 2006).
- U. ALBERTAZZI and L. GAMBACORTA, *Bank profitability and the business cycle*, Journal of Financial Stability, v. 5, 4, pp. 393-409, **TD No. 601 (September 2006).**
- S. MAGRI, *The financing of small innovative firms: the Italian case*, Economics of Innovation and New Technology, v. 18, 2, pp. 181-204, **TD No. 640 (September 2007).**
- V. DI GIACINTO and G. MICUCCI, The producer service sector in Italy: long-term growth and its local determinants, Spatial Economic Analysis, Vol. 4, No. 4, pp. 391-425, TD No. 643 (September 2007).
- F. LORENZO, L. MONTEFORTE and L. SESSA, *The general equilibrium effects of fiscal policy: estimates for the euro area*, Journal of Public Economics, v. 93, 3-4, pp. 559-585, **TD No. 652** (November 2007).
- R. GOLINELLI and S. MOMIGLIANO, *The Cyclical Reaction of Fiscal Policies in the Euro Area. A Critical Survey of Empirical Research*, Fiscal Studies, v. 30, 1, pp. 39-72, **TD No. 654 (January 2008).**
- P. DEL GIOVANE, S. FABIANI and R. SABBATINI, What's behind "Inflation Perceptions"? A survey-based analysis of Italian consumers, Giornale degli Economisti e Annali di Economia, v. 68, 1, pp. 25-52, TD No. 655 (January 2008).
- F. MACCHERONI, M. MARINACCI, A. RUSTICHINI and M. TABOGA, *Portfolio selection with monotone mean*variance preferences, Mathematical Finance, v. 19, 3, pp. 487-521, **TD No. 664 (April 2008).**
- M. AFFINITO and M. PIAZZA, What are borders made of? An analysis of barriers to European banking integration, in P. Alessandrini, M. Fratianni and A. Zazzaro (eds.): The Changing Geography of Banking and Finance, Dordrecht Heidelberg London New York, Springer, TD No. 666 (April 2008).
- A. BRANDOLINI, On applying synthetic indices of multidimensional well-being: health and income inequalities in France, Germany, Italy, and the United Kingdom, in R. Gotoh and P. Dumouchel (eds.), Against Injustice. The New Economics of Amartya Sen, Cambridge, Cambridge University Press, TD No. 668 (April 2008).
- G. FERRERO and A. NOBILI, *Futures contract rates as monetary policy forecasts*, International Journal of Central Banking, v. 5, 2, pp. 109-145, **TD No. 681 (June 2008).**
- P. CASADIO, M. LO CONTE and A. NERI, Balancing work and family in Italy: the new mothers' employment decisions around childbearing, in T. Addabbo and G. Solinas (eds.), Non-Standard Employment and Qualità of Work, Physica-Verlag. A Sprinter Company, TD No. 684 (August 2008).
- L. ARCIERO, C. BIANCOTTI, L. D'AURIZIO and C. IMPENNA, *Exploring agent-based methods for the analysis* of payment systems: A crisis model for StarLogo TNG, Journal of Artificial Societies and Social Simulation, v. 12, 1, **TD No. 686 (August 2008).**
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, Nonlinearities in the dynamics of the euro area demand for M1, Macroeconomic Dynamics, v. 13, 1, pp. 1-19, **TD No. 690 (September 2008).**
- L. FRANCESCO and A. SECCHI, *Technological change and the households' demand for currency*, Journal of Monetary Economics, v. 56, 2, pp. 222-230, **TD No. 697 (December 2008).**
- G. ASCARI and T. ROPELE, *Trend inflation, taylor principle, and indeterminacy*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 41, 8, pp. 1557-1584, **TD No. 708** (May 2007).

- S. COLAROSSI and A. ZAGHINI, Gradualism, transparency and the improved operational framework: a look at overnight volatility transmission, International Finance, v. 12, 2, pp. 151-170, **TD No. 710** (May 2009).
- M. BUGAMELLI, F. SCHIVARDI and R. ZIZZA, *The euro and firm restructuring*, in A. Alesina e F. Giavazzi (eds): Europe and the Euro, Chicago, University of Chicago Press, **TD No. 716 (June 2009).**
- B. HALL, F. LOTTI and J. MAIRESSE, *Innovation and productivity in SMEs: empirical evidence for Italy*, Small Business Economics, v. 33, 1, pp. 13-33, **TD No. 718 (June 2009).**

2010

- A. PRATI and M. SBRACIA, Uncertainty and currency crises: evidence from survey data, Journal of Monetary Economics, v, 57, 6, pp. 668-681, **TD No. 446 (July 2002).**
- L. MONTEFORTE and S. SIVIERO, *The Economic Consequences of Euro Area Modelling Shortcuts*, Applied Economics, v. 42, 19-21, pp. 2399-2415, **TD No. 458 (December 2002).**
- S. MAGRI, *Debt maturity choice of nonpublic Italian firms*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v.42, 2-3, pp. 443-463, **TD No. 574 (January 2006).**
- R. BRONZINI and P. PISELLI, *Determinants of long-run regional productivity with geographical spillovers: the role of R&D, human capital and public infrastructure,* Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 39, 2, pp.187-199, **TD No. 597 (September 2006).**
- E. IOSSA and G. PALUMBO, *Over-optimism and lender liability in the consumer credit market*, Oxford Economic Papers, v. 62, 2, pp. 374-394, **TD No. 598 (September 2006).**
- S. NERI and A. NOBILI, *The transmission of US monetary policy to the euro area*, International Finance, v. 13, 1, pp. 55-78, **TD No. 606 (December 2006).**
- F. ALTISSIMO, R. CRISTADORO, M. FORNI, M. LIPPI and G. VERONESE, New Eurocoin: Tracking Economic Growth in Real Time, Review of Economics and Statistics, v. 92, 4, pp. 1024-1034, TD No. 631 (June 2007).
- A. CIARLONE, P. PISELLI and G. TREBESCHI, *Emerging Markets' Spreads and Global Financial Conditions*, Journal of International Financial Markets, Institutions & Money, v. 19, 2, pp. 222-239, **TD No.** 637 (June 2007).
- U. ALBERTAZZI and L. GAMBACORTA, *Bank profitability and taxation*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 34, 11, pp. 2801-2810, **TD No. 649** (November 2007).
- M. IACOVIELLO and S. NERI, *Housing market spillovers: evidence from an estimated DSGE model,* American Economic Journal: Macroeconomics, v. 2, 2, pp. 125-164, **TD No. 659 (January 2008).**
- F. BALASSONE, F. MAURA and S. ZOTTERI, Cyclical asymmetry in fiscal variables in the EU, Empirica, TD No. 671, v. 37, 4, pp. 381-402 (June 2008).
- F. D'AMURI, O. GIANMARCO I.P. and P. GIOVANNI, The labor market impact of immigration on the western german labor market in the 1990s, European Economic Review, v. 54, 4, pp. 550-570, TD No. 687 (August 2008).
- A. ACCETTURO, Agglomeration and growth: the effects of commuting costs, Papers in Regional Science, v. 89, 1, pp. 173-190, **TD No. 688 (September 2008).**
- S. NOBILI and G. PALAZZO, *Explaining and forecasting bond risk premiums*, Financial Analysts Journal, v. 66, 4, pp. 67-82, **TD No. 689 (September 2008).**
- A. B. ATKINSON and A. BRANDOLINI, *On analysing the world distribution of income*, World Bank Economic Review, v. 24, 1, pp. 1-37, **TD No. 701 (January 2009).**
- R. CAPPARIELLO and R. ZIZZA, Dropping the Books and Working Off the Books, Labour, v. 24, 2, pp. 139-162, **TD No. 702 (January 2009).**
- C. NICOLETTI and C. RONDINELLI, *The (mis)specification of discrete duration models with unobserved heterogeneity: a Monte Carlo study*, Journal of Econometrics, v. 159, 1, pp. 1-13, **TD No. 705** (March 2009).
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *Macroeconomic effects of greater competition in the service sector: the case of Italy*, Macroeconomic Dynamics, v. 14, 5, pp. 677-708, **TD No. 706 (March 2009).**
- V. DI GIACINTO, G. MICUCCI and P. MONTANARO, Dynamic macroeconomic effects of public capital: evidence from regional Italian data, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, v. 69, 1, pp. 29-66, TD No. 733 (November 2009).
- F. COLUMBA, L. GAMBACORTA and P. E. MISTRULLI, *Mutual Guarantee institutions and small business finance*, Journal of Financial Stability, v. 6, 1, pp. 45-54, **TD No. 735** (November 2009).

- A. GERALI, S. NERI, L. SESSA and F. M. SIGNORETTI, *Credit and banking in a DSGE model of the Euro Area,* Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, v. 42, 6, pp. 107-141, **TD No. 740** (January 2010).
- M. AFFINITO and E. TAGLIAFERRI, *Why do (or did?) banks securitize their loans? Evidence from Italy*, Journal of Financial Stability, v. 6, 4, pp. 189-202, **TD No. 741 (January 2010).**
- S. FEDERICO, *Outsourcing versus integration at home or abroad and firm heterogeneity*, Empirica, v. 37, 1, pp. 47-63, **TD No. 742 (February 2010).**
- V. DI GIACINTO, *On vector autoregressive modeling in space and time*, Journal of Geographical Systems, v. 12, 2, pp. 125-154, **TD No. 746 (February 2010).**
- S. MOCETTI and C. PORELLO, *How does immigration affect native internal mobility? new evidence from Italy*, Regional Science and Urban Economics, v. 40, 6, pp. 427-439, **TD No. 748 (March 2010).**
- A. DI CESARE and G. GUAZZAROTTI, An analysis of the determinants of credit default swap spread changes before and during the subprime financial turmoil, Journal of Current Issues in Finance, Business and Economics, v. 3, 4, pp., TD No. 749 (March 2010).
- P. CIPOLLONE, P. MONTANARO and P. SESTITO, Value-added measures in Italian high schools: problems and findings, Giornale degli economisti e annali di economia, v. 69, 2, pp. 81-114, TD No. 754 (March 2010).
- A. BRANDOLINI, S. MAGRI and T. M SMEEDING, Asset-based measurement of poverty, Journal of Policy Analysis and Management, v. 29, 2, pp. 267-284, **TD No. 755** (March 2010).
- G. CAPPELLETTI, A Note on rationalizability and restrictions on beliefs, The B.E. Journal of Theoretical Economics, v. 10, 1, pp. 1-11, **TD No. 757** (April 2010).
- S. DI ADDARIO and D. VURI, Entrepreneurship and market size. the case of young college graduates in Italy, Labour Economics, v. 17, 5, pp. 848-858, **TD No. 775 (September 2010).**
- A. CALZA and A. ZAGHINI, *Sectoral money demand and the great disinflation in the US*, Journal of Money, Credit, and Banking, v. 42, 8, pp. 1663-1678, **TD No. 785 (January 2011).**

#### 2011

- S. DI ADDARIO, *Job search in thick markets*, Journal of Urban Economics, v. 69, 3, pp. 303-318, **TD No.** 605 (December 2006).
- E. CIAPANNA, *Directed matching with endogenous markov probability: clients or competitors?*, The RAND Journal of Economics, v. 42, 1, pp. 92-120, **TD No. 665 (April 2008).**
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *The Macroeconomics of Fiscal Consolidation in a Monetary Union: the Case of Italy*, in Luigi Paganetto (ed.), Recovery after the crisis. Perspectives and policies, VDM Verlag Dr. Muller, **TD No. 747 (March 2010).**
- A. DI CESARE and G. GUAZZAROTTI, An analysis of the determinants of credit default swap changes before and during the subprime financial turmoil, in Barbara L. Campos and Janet P. Wilkins (eds.), The Financial Crisis: Issues in Business, Finance and Global Economics, New York, Nova Science Publishers, Inc., TD No. 749 (March 2010).
- G. GRANDE and I. VISCO, A public guarantee of a minimum return to defined contribution pension scheme members, The Journal of Risk, v. 13, 3, pp. 3-43, **TD No. 762 (June 2010).**
- P. DEL GIOVANE, G. ERAMO and A. NOBILI, *Disentangling demand and supply in credit developments: a survey-based analysis for Italy*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v. 35, 10, pp. 2719-2732, **TD No.** 764 (June 2010).
- M. TABOGA, Under/over-valuation of the stock market and cyclically adjusted earnings, International Finance, v. 14, 1, pp. 135-164, **TD No. 780 (December 2010).**
- S. NERI, *Housing, consumption and monetary policy: how different are the U.S. and the Euro area?*, Journal of Banking and Finance, v.35, 11, pp. 3019-3041, **TD No. 807 (April 2011).**

#### FORTHCOMING

- M. BUGAMELLI and A. ROSOLIA, *Produttività e concorrenza estera*, Rivista di politica economica, **TD No.** 578 (February 2006).
- G. DE BLASIO and G. NUZZO, *Historical traditions of civicness and local economic development*, Journal of Regional Science, **TD No. 591 (May 2006).**

- F. CINGANO and A. ROSOLIA, *People I know: job search and social networks*, Journal of Labor Economics, **TD No. 600 (September 2006).**
- F. SCHIVARDI and E. VIVIANO, Entry barriers in retail trade, Economic Journal, TD No. 616 (February 2007).
- G. FERRERO, A. NOBILI and P. PASSIGLIA, Assessing excess liquidity in the Euro Area: the role of sectoral distribution of money, Applied Economics, **TD No. 627** (April 2007).
- P. E. MISTRULLI, Assessing financial contagion in the interbank market: maximum entropy versus observed interbank lending patterns, Journal of Banking & Finance, **TD No. 641 (September 2007).**
- Y. ALTUNBAS, L. GAMBACORTA and D. MARQUÉS, *Securitisation and the bank lending channel*, European Economic Review, **TD No. 653 (November 2007).**
- M. BUGAMELLI and F. PATERNÒ, *Output growth volatility and remittances*, Economica, **TD No. 673 (June 2008).**
- V. DI GIACINTO e M. PAGNINI, Local and global agglomeration patterns: two econometrics-based indicators, Regional Science and Urban Economics, **TD No. 674 (June 2008).**
- G. BARONE and F. CINGANO, Service regulation and growth: evidence from OECD countries, Economic Journal, **TD No. 675 (June 2008).**
- S. MOCETTI, *Educational choices and the selection process before and after compulsory school*, Education Economics, **TD No. 691 (September 2008).**
- P. SESTITO and E. VIVIANO, *Reservation wages: explaining some puzzling regional patterns*, Labour, **TD No. 696 (December 2008).**
- P. PINOTTI, M. BIANCHI and P. BUONANNO, *Do immigrants cause crime?*, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 698 (December 2008).**
- R. GIORDANO and P. TOMMASINO, What determines debt intolerance? The role of political and monetary institutions, European Journal of Political Economy, TD No. 700 (January 2009).
- F. LIPPI and A. NOBILI, *Oil and the macroeconomy: a quantitative structural analysis*, Journal of European Economic Association, **TD No. 704** (March 2009).
- F. CINGANO and P. PINOTTI, *Politicians at work. The private returns and social costs of political connections*, Journal of the European Economic Association, **TD No. 709 (May 2009).**
- Y. ALTUNBAS, L. GAMBACORTA, and D. MARQUÉS-IBÁÑEZ, *Bank risk and monetary policy*, Journal of Financial Stability, **TD No. 712 (May 2009).**
- P. ANGELINI, A. NOBILI e C. PICILLO, *The interbank market after August 2007: What has changed, and why?*, Journal of Money, Credit and Banking, **TD No. 731 (October 2009).**
- G. BARONE and S. MOCETTI, *Tax morale and public spending inefficiency*, International Tax and Public Finance, **TD No. 732 (November 2009).**
- L. FORNI, A. GERALI and M. PISANI, *The macroeconomics of fiscal consolidations in euro area countries,* Journal of Economic Dynamics and Control, **TD No. 747 (March 2010).**
- G. BARONE, R. FELICI and M. PAGNINI, *Switching costs in local credit markets*, International Journal of Industrial Organization, **TD No. 760 (June 2010).**
- G. BARONE and S. MOCETTI, With a little help from abroad: the effect of low-skilled immigration on the female labour supply, Labour Economics, **TD No. 766 (July 2010).**
- S. MAGRI and R. PICO, *The rise of risk-based pricing of mortgage interest rates in Italy*, Journal of Banking and Finance, **TD No. 778 (October 2010).**
- A. ACCETTURO and G. DE BLASIO, *Policies for local development: an evaluation of Italy's "Patti Territoriali"*, Regional Science and Urban Economics, **TD No. 789 (January 2006).**
- E. COCOZZA and P. PISELLI, Testing for east-west contagion in the European banking sector during the financial crisis, in R. Matoušek; D. Stavárek (eds.), Financial Integration in the European Union, Taylor & Francis, TD No. 790 (February 2011).
- S. NERI and T. ROPELE, *Imperfect information, real-time data and monetary policy in the Euro area,* The Economic Journal, **TD No. 802 (March 2011).**